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IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE 

 
In re:  
 
Tricida, Inc., 1  

Debtor.  

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Chapter 11 
 
Case No. 23-10024 (JTD) 
 
Objection Deadline: September 1, 2023 at 4:00 p.m. 
Hearing Date: September 27, 2023 at 11:00 a.m. 
 

MOTION OF THE LIQUIDATING TRUSTEE TO SUBORDINATE 
CLAIM NO. 144 FILED BY JEFFREY FIORE, AS SECURITIES LEAD 

PLAINTIFF FOR A PROPOSED CLASS OF PLAINTIFFS, AND CLAIM NO. 146 
FILED JEFFREY FIORE INDIVIDUALLY PURSUANT TO 11 U.S.C. § 510(B) 

 Jackson Square Advisors, as trustee (the “Liquidating Trustee”) of the Tricida Liquidating 

Trust (the “Liquidating Trust”), by and through undersigned counsel, moves this Honorable Court 

for the entry of an order, pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 510(b), subordinating claims of Jeffrey Fiore, as 

Securities Lead Plaintiff (“Lead Plaintiff”) for a Proposed Class of plaintiffs and Jeffrey Fiore 

individually (“Fiore”). In support of its Motion, the Liquidating Trustee states as follows: 

Preliminary Statement 

1. The Lead Plaintiff and Fiore each filed a claim for damages arising from violations 

of Federal securities laws with respect to the issuance of Tricida’s common stock. “11 U.S.C. § 

510(b) subordinates claims for damages arising from the purchase or sale of a security of the debtor 

to all claims and interests that are senior or equal to the claim or interest represented by such 

security.”2 Where, as here, the security is common stock, these claims have the same priority as 

common stock.3 Claims of shareholders alleging fraud in the issuance of common stock, such as 

 
1 The Debtor in this chapter 11 case, together with the last four digits of the Debtor’s federal tax 
identification number, is Tricida, Inc. (2526). 
2 In re Integrated Telecom Express, Inc., 384 F.3d 108, 117, FN 2 (3d Cir. 2004) (quoting Collier on 
Bankruptcy §§ 510.01, 510.04 [1] (15th ed. 2004)). 
3 See id. 
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the claims at issue here, “fall squarely within the intended scope of § 510(b).” Accordingly, this 

Court should hold that these claims are subordinated to the same priority as Tricida’s common 

stock, which will not receive a distribution pursuant to the Plan (defined below). 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

2. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction to consider this matter pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §§ 157 and 1334.  This is a core proceeding pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 157(b)(2)(A), (E) and 

(O). Venue is proper before this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1408 and 1409. 

3. The Trustee consents to the entry of a final order or judgment in this matter by the 

Court if it is determined that absent consent the Court cannot enter final orders or judgments 

consistent with Article III of the U.S. Constitution. 

4. The statutory predicate for the relief requested in this Motion is Section 510(b) of 

the Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. §§ 101, et seq. (the “Bankruptcy Code”). 

Parties 

5. The Liquidating Trustee is the trustee for the Liquidating Trust. The Liquidating 

Trust was formed in accordance with the Fifth Amended Chapter 11 Plan of Liquidation for 

Tricida, Inc. (the “Plan”). The Liquidating Trustee has a principal place of business located at 606 

Post Road E #624 Westport, CT 06880. 

6. Lead Plaintiff is the lead plaintiff in the proposed class action lawsuit captioned 

Pardi Individually and on Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated v. Tricida, Inc. and Gerrit 

Klaerner, Case No. 4:21-cv-00076-HSG (the “District Court Action”), pending in the United 

States District Court for the Northern District of California. The Lead Plaintiff is a resident of 

Texas and an equity holder of debtor Tricida, Inc. (“Tricida” or the “Debtor”). 

7. Fiore is a resident of Texas and an equity holder of Tricida. 
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Factual Background 

A. Tricida’s Bankruptcy Proceeding. 

8. On January 11, 2023 (the “Petition Date”), Tricida filed a voluntary petition for 

relief under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in this Court. The Debtor continued in possession 

of its property and continued to operate and maintain its businesses as a debtor in possession 

pursuant to sections 1107(a) and 1108 of the Bankruptcy Code from the Petition Date through June 

12, 2023, the effective date of the Plan (the “Effective Date”). 

9. On May 23, 2023, the Court entered its order [Docket No. 515] confirming the Plan. 

The Liquidating Trust was formed in accordance with the Plan. The Liquidating Trustee became 

the trustee of the Liquidating Trust effective as of the Effective Date. 

B. Claim No. 144 filed by Lead Plaintiff. 

10. Lead Plaintiff filed his claim (“Claim No. 144) on March 8, 2023.4 The asserted 

basis for Claim 144 is “Violations of Federal Securities Laws - see addendum”.5 Paragraph 3 of 

the addendum to Claim No. 144 states as follows: 

The Amended Complaint generally alleges that the Defendants engaged in a 
deceptive scheme and made false and misleading statements and omissions of 
material fact about the design and execution of certain clinical trials, which 
artificially inflated and/or maintained artificial inflation in the price of the Debtor’s 
common stock during the Class Period in violation of Sections 10(b) and/or 20(a) 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. §78(a); and United States 
Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5, 
promulgated thereunder.6 

11. Lead Plaintiff attached a redacted copy of the Second Amended Complaint for 

Violations of the Federal Securities Laws in the District Court Action (the “Second Amended 

 
4 A copy of Claim No. 144 is attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
5 See Claim No. 144, Box 8. 
6 See addendum to Claim No. 144, ¶ 3. 
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Complaint”) as Exhibit A to Claim No. 144.  The Second Amended Complaint asserts two causes 

of action, Count I against defendants Tricida and Klaerner and Count II against Klaerner only. 

Count I asserts a claim “For Violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5”. In 

Count I, Lead Plaintiff makes the following allegations: 

• During the Class Period, Defendants disseminated or approved the false 
statements specified above, which they knew or deliberately disregarded 
were misleading in that they contained misrepresentations and concealed 
material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of 
the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.7 

• Defendants “[e]mployed devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud.8 

• Defendants “[m]ade untrue statements of material facts or omitted to state 
material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of 
the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading”.9 

• Defendants “[e]ngaged in acts, practices, and a course of business that 
operated as a fraud or deceit upon Plaintiffs and others similarly situated in 
connection with their purchases of Tricida securities during the Class 
Period”.10 

• As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ wrongful conduct, Lead 
Plaintiff and the Class have suffered damages in connection with their 
respective purchases of Tricida common stock during the Class Period, 
because, in reliance on the integrity of the market, they paid artificially 
inflated prices for Tricida securities and experienced losses when the 
artificial inflation was released from Tricida securities as a result of the 
revelations and prices decline detailed herein. Plaintiffs and the Class would 
not have purchased Tricida securities at the prices they paid, or at all, if they 
had been aware that the market prices had been artificially and falsely 
inflated by Defendants’ misleading statements.11 

12. In the prayer for relief, Lead Plaintiff requests a judgment, among other things, 

“[a]warding all damages and other remedies available under the Securities Exchange Act in favor 

 
7 Second Amended Complaint, ¶ 210. 
8 Second Amended Complaint, ¶ 212. 
9 Second Amended Complaint, ¶ 213. 
10 Second Amended Complaint, ¶ 214. 
11 Second Amended Complaint, ¶ 216. 
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of Lead Plaintiff and all members of the Class against Defendants in an amount to be proven at 

trial, including interest thereon”12 

C. Claim No. 146 filed by Fiore. 

13. Fiore filed his claim (“Claim No. 146) on March 8, 2023.13 The asserted basis for 

Claim 144 is “Violations of Federal Securities Laws - see addendum”.14 Claim No. 146 attaches 

and relies on the Second Amended Complaint. 

Relief Requested and Basis Therefore 

14. By this Motion, the Liquidating Trustee requests that this Court enter an order 

subordinating Claim Nos. 144 and 146 to the same priority as Tridica’s common stock pursuant to 

Section 510(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, which provides as follows: 

For the purpose of distribution under this title, a claim arising from rescission of a 
purchase or sale of a security of the debtor or of an affiliate of the debtor, for 
damages arising from the purchase or sale of such a security, or for reimbursement 
or contribution allowed under section 502 on account of such a claim, shall be 
subordinated to all claims or interests that are senior to or equal the claim or interest 
represented by such security, except that if such security is common stock, such 
claim has the same priority as common stock. 

11 U.S.C. § 510(b). “11 U.S.C. § 510(b) subordinates claims for damages arising from the purchase 

or sale of a security of the debtor to all claims and interests that are senior or equal to the claim or 

interest represented by such security. Where, as here, the security is common stock, the claim has 

the same priority as common stock.”15  

15. Congress enacted Section 510(b) to “prevent disaffected equity investors from 

recouping their investment losses in parity with general unsecured creditors in the event of 

 
12 Second Amended Complaint, ¶ 225(b). 
13 A copy of Claim No. 146 is attached hereto as Exhibit B. 
14 See Claim No. 146, Box 8. 
15 NMSBPCSLDHB, L.P. v. Integrated Telecom Express, Inc. (In re Integrated Telecom Express, Inc.), 384 
F.3d 108, 117, FN 2 (3d Cir. 2004) (citing Collier on Bankruptcy §§ 510.01, 510.04 [1] (15th ed. 2004)). 
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bankruptcy.”16 “[B]ecause claimants retained the right to participate in corporate profits if 

Telegroup succeeded, we believe that § 510(b) prevents them from using their breach of contract 

claim to recover the value of their equity investment in parity with general unsecured creditors. 

Were we to rule in claimants' favor in this case, we would allow stockholders in claimants' position 

to retain their stock and share in the corporation's profits if the corporation succeeds, and to recover 

a portion of their investment in parity with creditors if the corporation fails.”17  

16. A mandatory subordination claim under Bankruptcy Code Section 510(b) requires 

three elements: “first, the claim involves a security; second, that there was a purchase or sale of 

such security; and third that the damages which make up his claim arose out of that purchase or 

sale.”18 Each of these elements is satisfied here. Claim Nos. 144 and 146 both directly relate to the 

purchase of Tricida stock, satisfying the first two elements. The third element is satisfied because 

Claim Nos. 144 and 146 seek damages for Tricida’s alleged violations of Section 10(b) of the 

Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. Rule 10b-5 provides as follows: 

240.10b-5 Employment of manipulative and deceptive devices. 

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of any means or 
instrumentality of interstate commerce, or of the mails or of any facility of any national 
securities exchange,  

(a) To employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud,  

(b) To make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material 
fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the 
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, or  

(c) To engage in any act, practice, or course of business which operates or would 
operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person,  

 
16 In re Teleglobe, Inc., 281 F.3d 133, 142 (3d. Cir. 2002). 
17 Id. 
18 In re NTP Marble, Inc., 491 B.R. 208, 2012 (Bankr. E.D. Pa. 2013) (citing Liquidating Trust v. Wax (In 
re U.S. Wireless Corp.), 384 B.R. 713, 717–718 (Bankr. D. Del. 2008)). 
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in connection with the purchase or sale of any security.19 

17. The Second Amended Complaint is replete with allegations that Tricida made 

materially false and misleading statements and engaged in acts, practices, and a course of business 

that operated as a fraud or deceit upon Plaintiffs and others similarly situated in connection with 

their purchases of Tricida securities. Moreover, in paragraph 216 of the Second Amended 

Complaint, plaintiffs assert that, “[a]s a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ wrongful 

conduct, Lead Plaintiff and the Class have suffered damages in connection with their respective 

purchases of Tricida common stock….” Shareholder claims, such as the claims asserted in the 

Second Amended Complaint, “alleging fraud in the issuance . . . fall squarely within the intended 

scope of § 510(b).”20 If, as here, a damages claim would not exist but for the claimant’s stock 

ownership, the claim is subordinated pursuant to Bankruptcy Code Section 510(b).21  

18. In Kaiser Group Intern., Inc.,22 Judge Walrath subordinated all claims included in 

a similar class action seeking damages for violations of securities laws, among other things. Kaiser 

involved the merger of ICT Spectrum Constructors, Inc. (“ICT”) into an affiliate of Kaiser Group 

International, Inc. (“Kaiser”) pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger dated February 5, 1998 

(“the Merger Agreement”).23 Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, the ICT shareholders received 

1.5 million of restricted shares of Kaiser common stock. In addition, if the Kaiser stock did not 

have a value of $5.36 per share on March 1, 2001, the Merger Agreement required Kaiser to pay 

the difference in value by either issuing additional shares or paying cash. Further, although the 

Kaiser shares held by the ICT Shareholders were restricted (i.e., they could not be freely sold), the 

 
19 17 CFR § 240.10b-5 (emphasis added). 
20 In re Teleglobe, Inc., 281 F.3d 133, 143 (3d Cir. 2002). 
21 Id. 
22 In re Kaiser Group Intern., Inc., 260 B.R. 684 (Bankr. D. Del. 2001). 
23 Id. at 685-86. 
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Merger Agreement provided that if the share price went above the $5.36 per share before March 

1, 2001, the ICT shareholders had the right to require the Debtors to either buy the stock or arrange 

for the sale of the stock.24 

19. A former ICT shareholder filed a proposed class action suit against Kaiser, its 

subsidiary, and certain Kaiser officers on March 24, 1999 alleging violation of the federal 

securities laws with respect to the ICT merger. The Debtors filed voluntary petitions under Chapter 

11 of the Bankruptcy Code on June 9, 2000 and their Second Amended Plan of Reorganization 

was confirmed on December 5, 2000.25 

20. The ICT Shareholders filed proofs of claim asserting damages arising from the ICT 

merger, including violations of securities laws, breach of contract, enforcement of the provisions 

of the Merger Agreement, and other claims arising under the complaint. The Debtors objected to 

the ICT Shareholders' claims asserting that all their claims must be subordinated under Bankruptcy 

Code Section 510(b).26 

21. The ICT shareholders argued that the claims were not subject to subordination 

because the Merger Agreement required Kaiser to pay the difference between the Merger Value 

and the price of their stock in cash. The Court did not find this argument persuasive because “[t]he 

obligation to pay the Merger Value was an obligation undertaken by the Debtors in connection 

with the issuance of their stock and as a guarantee by the Debtors of the value of their stock. This 

is clearly a claim based on damages resulting from the sale or purchase of securities of the 

Debtors.” The Court further found that, “while the ICT Shareholders attempt to recharacterize their 

claim in this Court to avoid the application of section 510(b), it is clear from the allegations in the 

 
24 Id. at 686.  
25 Id. 
26 Id. 
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… Complaint  … that the basis of their claims is the allegation that the Debtors committed 

securities fraud and made material misrepresentations to the ICT Shareholders to induce them to 

enter into the Merger Agreement. Such allegations place their claims squarely within the purview 

of section 510(b).  

22. Here, as in Kaiser, Claimants seek damages for Debtor’s alleged securities fraud 

and material misrepresentation related to their purchase of Tricida common stock. Accordingly, as 

in Kaiser, this Court should hold that Claim Nos. 144 and 146 are subordinated pursuant to Section 

510(b). 

Conclusion 

 WHEREFORE, for the foregoing reasons, the Liquidating Trustee respectfully requests 

that this Honorable Court enter an order, substantially in the form attached as Exhibit C, 

subordinating Claim No. 144 and Claim No. 146 to the same priority as Debtor’s common stock 

and granting to the Liquidating Trustee such other and further relief as is just and proper. 

Date: August 11, 2023   SULLIVAN ∙ HAZELTINE ∙ ALLINSON LLC 
Wilmington, DE    
 

        
William D. Sullivan (No. 2820) 
William A. Hazeltine (No. 3294) 
919 North Market Street, Suite 420 
Wilmington, DE 19801 
Tel: (302) 428-8191 
Fax: (302) 428-8195 
Email: bsullivan@sha-llc.com 

whazeltine@sha-llc.com 
 
Attorneys for Jackson Square Advisors as 
Liquidating Trustee for the Tricida Liquidating 
Trust 
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IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE 

In re:  
 
Tricida, Inc., 1  

Debtor.  

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Chapter 11 
 

Case No. 23-10024 (JTD) 
 
Objection Deadline: September 1, 2023 at 4:00 p.m. 
Hearing Date: September 27, 2023 at 11:00 a.m. 

 
NOTICE OF MOTION 

 
 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on August 11, 2023 Jackson Square Advisors, solely in 

its capacity as liquidating trustee of the Tricida Liquidating Trust (the “Liquidating Trustee”), filed 

its Motion of the Liquidating Trustee to Subordinate Claim No. 144 filed by Jeffrey Fiore, as 

Securities Lead Plaintiff for a Proposed Class of Plaintiffs, and Claim No. 146 filed by Jeffrey 

Fiore Individually Pursuant to 11 U.S.C § 510(b) (the “Motion”) with the United States 

Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware (the “Bankruptcy Court”). 

   PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that responses to the Motion, if any, must be 

filed on or before September 1, 2023 at 4:00 p.m. (“Response Deadline”) with the United States 

Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware, Clerk’s Office, 824 North Market Street, Third 

Floor, Wilmington, Delaware 19081 and served on the undersigned counsel to the Liquidating 

Trustee so as to be received on or before the Response Deadline.  

 PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE, that a hearing with respect to the Motion, if 

required, is scheduled before the Honorable John T. Dorsey at the Bankruptcy Court, 5th Floor, 

Courtroom 5, on September 27, 2023 at 11:00 a.m. 

 
1 The Debtor in this chapter 11 case, together with the last four digits of the Debtor’s federal tax 
identification number, is Tricida, Inc. (2526). The Debtor’s service address is 2108 N Street, Suite 4935, 
Sacramento, CA 95816. 
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  PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE THAT IF NO OBJECTION OR OTHER 

RESPONSE TO THE MOTION IS TIMELY FILED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 

PROCEDURES SET FORTH ABOVE, THE BANKRUPTCY COURT MAY ENTER AN 

ORDER GRANTING THE RELIEF SOUGHT IN THE MOTION WITHOUT FURTHER 

NOTICE OR A HEARING. 

 
Dated:  August 11, 2023   SULLIVAN • HAZELTINE • ALLINSON LLC 

Wilmington, Delaware 
 

       /s/ William A. Hazeltine    
      William D. Sullivan (No. 2820) 

William A. Hazeltine (No. 3294) 
      919 North Market Street, Suite 420 

Wilmington, DE  19801 
 Tel:  (302) 428-8191  
 Fax:  (302) 428-8195  
 Email: bsullivan@sha-llc.com 
  whazeltine@sha-llc.com     

 
      Attorneys for Jackson Square Advisors 
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EXHIBIT A 
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Official Form 410 
Proof of Claim 04/22 

Read the instructions before filling out this form. This form is for making a claim for payment in a bankruptcy case. Do not use this form to 
make a request for payment of an administrative expense. Make such a request according to 11 U.S.C. § 503. 

Filers must leave out or redact information that is entitled to privacy on this form or on any attached documents. Attach redacted copies or any 
documents that support the claim, such as promissory notes, purchase orders, invoices, itemized statements of running accounts, contracts, judgments, 
mortgages, and security agreements. Do not send original documents; they may be destroyed after scanning. If the documents are not available, 
explain in an attachment. 

A person who files a fraudulent claim could be fined up to $500,000, imprisoned for up to 5 years, or both. 18 U.S.C. §§ 152, 157, and 3571. 

Fill in all the information about the claim as of the date the case was filed. That date is on the notice of bankruptcy (Form 309) that you received. 

Part 1: Identify the Claim 

1. Who is the current
creditor? 

Name of the current creditor (the person or entity to be paid for this claim) 

Other names the creditor used with the debtor      

2. Has this claim been
acquired from
someone else?

No 

Yes.     From whom?   

3. Where should 
notices and
payments to the
creditor be sent?

Federal Rule of 
Bankruptcy Procedure 
(FRBP) 2002(g) 

Where should notices to the creditor be sent? Where should payments to the creditor be sent? (if 
different) 

Name 

Number    Street 

City       State       ZIP Code 

Contact phone  

Contact email    

Name 

Number    Street 

City       State       ZIP Code 

Contact phone  

Contact email    

Uniform claim identifier for electronic payments in chapter 13 (if you use one): 

___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ 

4. Does this claim
amend one already 
filed?

No 

Yes.     Claim number on court claims registry (if known)  Filed on   
MM     /     DD     /     YYYY 

5. Do you know if
anyone else has filed
a proof of claim for
this claim? 

 No 

Yes. Who made the earlier filing?     

Fill in this information to identify the case: 

Debtor

United States Bankruptcy Court for the:  District of 
(State) 

Case number

Official Form 410 Proof of Claim
page 1 

✔

✔

973-597-2500

✔

Delaware

See summary page

 Tricida, Inc.

Jeffrey Fiore

23-10024

lsklar@lowenstein.com
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Part 2: Give Information About the Claim as of the Date the Case Was Filed 

6. Do you have any number
you use to identify the
debtor? 

No 

Yes. Last 4 digits of the debtor’s account or any number you use to identify the debtor:  ___  ___  ___  ___ 

7. How much is the claim? $ . Does this amount include interest or other charges? 

No 

Yes. Attach statement itemizing interest, fees, expenses, or other 
  charges required by Bankruptcy Rule 3001(c)(2)(A). 

8. What is the basis of the
claim? 

Examples: Goods sold, money loaned, lease, services performed, personal injury or wrongful death, or credit card. 

Attach redacted copies of any documents supporting the claim required by Bankruptcy Rule 3001(c). 

Limit disclosing information that is entitled to privacy, such as health care information. 

9. Is all or part of the claim
secured?

No 

Yes.   The claim is secured by a lien on property. 

Nature or property: 

Real estate: If the claim is secured by the debtor’s principle residence, file a Mortgage Proof of  
 Claim Attachment (Official Form 410-A) with this Proof of Claim. 

 Motor vehicle 

 Other. Describe:

Basis for perfection:

Attach redacted copies of documents, if any, that show evidence of perfection of a security interest (for  
example, a mortgage, lien, certificate of title, financing statement, or other document that shows the lien 
has been filed or recorded.) 

Value of property: $

Amount of the claim that is secured: $ 

Amount of the claim that is unsecured: $  (The sum of the secured and unsecured 
 amount should match the amount in line 7.) 

Amount necessary to cure any default as of the date of the petition: $ 

Annual Interest Rate (when case was filed) % 

 Fixed 

 Variable 

10. Is this claim based on a
lease?

 No 

 Yes. Amount necessary to cure any default as of the date of the petition. $  

11. Is this claim subject to a
right of setoff?

 No 

 Yes. Identify the property:

Official Form 410 Proof of Claim
page 2 

unliquidated

✔

✔

✔

Violations of Federal Securities Laws - see addendum

✔
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12. Is all or part of the claim
entitled to priority under
11 U.S.C. § 507(a)?

A claim may be partly
priority and partly
nonpriority. For example,
in some categories, the
law limits the amount
entitled to priority.

 No 

 Yes. Check all that apply: 

Domestic support obligations (including alimony and child support) under 
11 U.S.C. § 507(a)(1)(A) or (a)(1)(B). 

Up to $3,350* of deposits toward purchase, lease, or rental of property 
or services for personal, family, or household use. 11 U.S.C. § 507(a)(7). 

Wages, salaries, or commissions (up to $15,150*) earned within 180  
days before the bankruptcy petition is filed or the debtor’s business ends, 
whichever is earlier. 11 U.S.C. § 507(a)(4). 

Taxes or penalties owed to governmental units. 11 U.S.C. § 507(a)(8). 

Contributions to an employee benefit plan. 11 U.S.C. § 507(a)(5). 

Other. Specify subsection of 11 U.S.C. § 507(a)(__) that applies. 

Amount entitled to priority 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

* A m ounts are subject to adjustment on 4/01/25 and every 3 years after that for cases begun on or after the date of adjustment.

13. Is all or part of the claim
pursuant to 11 U.S.C.
§ 503(b)(9)?

 No 

Yes. Indicate the amount of your claim arising from the value of any goods received by the debtor within 20 
days before the date of commencement of the above case, in which the goods have been sold to the Debtor in 
the ordinary course of such Debtor’s business. Attach documentation supporting such claim. 

 $ 

Part 3: Sign Below 

The person completing 
this proof of claim must 
sign and date it. 
FRBP 9011(b).  

If you file this claim 
electronically, FRBP 
5005(a)(2) authorizes courts 
to establish local rules 
specifying what a signature 
is. 

A person who files a 
fraudulent claim could be 
fined up to $500,000, 
imprisoned for up to 5 
years, or both. 
18 U.S.C. §§ 152, 157, and 
3571. 

Check the appropriate box: 

I am the creditor. 

I am the creditor’s attorney or authorized agent. 

I am the trustee, or the debtor, or their authorized agent. Bankruptcy Rule 3004. 

I am a guarantor, surety, endorser, or other codebtor. Bankruptcy Rule 3005. 

I understand that an authorized signature on this Proof of Claim serves as an acknowledgement that when calculating 
the amount of the claim, the creditor gave the debtor credit for any payments received toward the debt. 

I have examined the information in this Proof of Claim and have reasonable belief that the information is true and correct. 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. 

Executed on date     
MM   /   DD   /   YYYY 

Signature 

Print the name of the person who is completing and signing this claim: 

Name
First name Middle name Last name 

Title  

Company  
Identify the corporate servicer as the company if the authorized agent is a servicer. 

Address
Number Street 

City State ZIP Code 

Contact phone Email

Official Form 410 Proof of Claim
page 3 

Counsel

✔

✔

Lowenstein Sandler LLP

✔

03/08/2023

Lindsay Sklar

/s/Lindsay Sklar
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Debtor:

23-10024 - Tricida, Inc.
District:

District of Delaware
Creditor:

Jeffrey Fiore
Lowenstein Sandler LLP
Attn: Michael Etkin, Andrew Behlmann, Lindsay Skla
One Lowenstein Drive

Roseland, New Jersey, 07068
USA
Phone:

973-597-2500
Phone 2:

Fax:

973-597-2400
Email:

lsklar@lowenstein.com

Has Supporting Documentation:

Yes, supporting documentation successfully uploaded
Related Document Statement:

Has Related Claim:

No
Related Claim Filed By:

Filing Party:

Authorized agent

Other Names Used with Debtor: Amends Claim:

No
Acquired Claim:

No
Basis of Claim:

Violations of Federal Securities Laws - see addendum
Last 4 Digits:

No
Uniform Claim Identifier:

Total Amount of Claim:

unliquidated
Includes Interest or Charges:

None
Has Priority Claim:

No
Priority Under:

Has Secured Claim:

No
Amount of 503(b)(9):

No
Based on Lease:

No
Subject to Right of Setoff:

No

Nature of Secured Amount:

Value of Property:

Annual Interest Rate:

Arrearage Amount:

Basis for Perfection:

Amount Unsecured:

Submitted By:

Lindsay Sklar on 08-Mar-2023 3:14:36 p.m. Eastern Time
Title:

Counsel
Company:

Lowenstein Sandler LLP
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KCC ePOC Electronic Claim Filing Summary

For phone assistance: Domestic 866-476-0898 | International 001-310-823-9000

VN: E2C03C5750C22684CA0DC0F3B4997CDD



 

43292/2 
03/08/2023 213272854.1 

IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE 

 

In re: 
 
TRICIDA, INC.,1 
 
   Debtor. 

Chapter 11 
 
Case No. 23-10024 (JTD) 
 
(Jointly Administered) 

 

ADDENDUM TO PROOF OF CLAIM 

1. This Proof of Claim is submitted by the claimant identified in the attached proof 

of claim (“Claimant”).  Claimant is the court-appointed lead plaintiff in the securities class action 

styled as Michael Pardi v. Tricida, Inc. and Gerrit Klaerner, Case No. 4:21-cv-00076-HSG (the 

“Securities Litigation”), pending in the United States District Court for the Northern District of 

California, Oakland Division (the “District Court”). 

2. On July 29, 2022, the District Court upheld in part a complaint against the Debtor 

and its CEO, Gerrit Klaerner (collectively, “Defendants”), for violations of Sections 10(b) and/or 

20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. §78(a); and United States Securities and 

Exchange Commission Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5, promulgated thereunder.  Following 

this ruling, and after discovery commenced, Claimant obtained documents from the United 

States Food and Drug Administration and used that evidence to file the Second Amended 

Complaint for Violations of the Federal Securities Laws on December 15, 2022 (the “Amended 

Complaint”) [Securities Litigation Docket No. 115] against Defendants.  A copy of the Amended 

Complaint is attached hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by reference.  All references 

herein to the Amended Complaint are qualified in their entirety by the Amended Complaint 

 
1  The Debtor in this chapter 11 case, together with the last four digits of the Debtor’s federal tax identification 

number, is Tricida, Inc. (2526). The Debtor’s service address is 7000 Shoreline Court, Suite 201, South San 
Francisco, CA 94080. 
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itself.  The Amended Complaint re-asserts the theory already upheld and adds additional 

evidence of wrongdoing by Defendants.  For the avoidance of doubt, this Proof of Claim is 

submitted in Claimant’s individual capacity. 

3. By operation of the automatic stay pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 362, the Securities 

Litigation is stayed solely with respect to the Debtor.  Accordingly, on January 24, 2023, 

Claimant filed a motion to voluntarily dismiss the Debtor as a defendant without prejudice. 

4. As of January 11, 2023 (the “Petition Date”), and continuing up to and including 

the present, the Debtor was and remains liable to Claimant for damages in an amount not yet 

determined, plus interest, costs, and attorneys’ fees as allowed (the “Claim”).  The allegations in 

the Amended Complaint, as may be further amended from time to time, form the basis of the 

Claim.  The basis of the Claim against the Debtor (as well as of Claimant’s claims against Mr. 

Klaerner and any other defendants to be named in the Securities Litigation) is damages resulting 

from violations of the federal securities laws by Defendants in connection with the purchase or 

other acquisition by Claimant of securities issued by or on behalf of the Debtor.2 

5. The Claim is not founded upon a specific writing, although certain documents, too 

voluminous and burdensome to annex hereto, which upon information and belief, relate to the 

Debtor’s violations of the federal securities laws from which the Claim arises, and which 

include, but are not limited to, documents filed with the United States Securities and Exchange 

Commission, are available.  In addition, certain of these documents, as well as other documents, 

may become available through discovery with respect to the Claim. 

6. No payments have been made on account of the Claim. 

7. The Claim is not subject to any setoff or counterclaim. 
 

2  Claimant reserves the right to amend the description of the Claim from time to time, including but not limited to 
asserting additional bases for the Claim, in connection with any amendment of the Complaint and/or the 
discovery of additional information relevant to the Claim. 
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8. No security interest is held for the Claim. 

9. The Claim is asserted in addition to, and not in lieu of, all other claims that 

Claimant may have against the Debtor, its affiliates, Mr. Klaerner, and any other defendants to 

be named in the Securities Litigation. 

10. Claimant reserves all rights (including but not limited to arguments, 

counterarguments, and defenses) in connection with the Securities Litigation.  Claimant further 

reserves all rights with respect to the Claim and this proof of claim, including but not limited to 

the right to amend and/or supplement this proof of claim from time to time and/or move to 

withdraw the bankruptcy reference. 

11. This proof of claim and any subsequent appearance, pleading, claim, or suit made 

by Claimant shall not be deemed to: 

 constitute a submission by Claimant to the jurisdiction of the Bankruptcy Court; 

 constitute consent by Claimant to entry by the Bankruptcy Court of any final 

order in any non-core proceeding, which consent is hereby withheld unless 

expressly granted in the future with respect to a specific issue, matter, or 

proceeding; 

 waive any substantive or procedural rights of Claimant, including but not limited 

to (a) the right to challenge the constitutional authority of the Bankruptcy Court 

to enter a final order or judgment, or any order having the effect of a final order 

or judgment, on any matter; (b) the right to have final orders in non-core matters 

entered only after de novo review by a United States District Court; (c) the right 

to trial by jury in any proceedings so triable herein, in the Securities Litigation, or 

in any other case, controversy, or proceeding related to or arising from the 
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Debtors, this chapter 11 case, any related proceedings, or the Securities 

Litigation; (d) the right to have the applicable United States District Court 

withdraw the reference in any matter subject to mandatory or discretionary 

withdrawal; (e) the right to request that the Bankruptcy Court abstain from 

hearing the merits of the Claim pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1334(c); (f) the right to 

assert any and all claims or rights against others jointly or severally liable for the 

sums claimed herein; or (g) all other rights, claims, actions, arguments, 

counterarguments, defenses, setoffs, or recoupments to which Claimant is or may 

be entitled under agreements, at law, in equity, or otherwise, all of which rights, 

claims, actions, arguments, counterarguments, defenses, setoffs, and recoupments 

are expressly reserved, nor shall this proof of claim be deemed to constitute 

consent to electronic service of any pleading or papers for which mailed or 

personal service is required under any applicable law, rule, regulation, or order. 
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EXHIBIT A 
Amended Complaint 
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SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT 
PERMISSION TO FILE GRANTED DEC. 9, 2022 – ECF NO. 112 
4:21-cv-00076-HSG 

1 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 
Jeffrey C. Block, pro hac vice 
Jacob A. Walker (SBN 271217) 
Michael D. Gaines, pro hac vice 
BLOCK & LEVITON LLP 
260 Franklin Street, Suite 1860 
Boston, MA 02110 
(617) 398-5600 phone 
(617) 507-6020 fax 
jake@blockleviton.com 
jeff@blockleviton.com 
michael@blockleviton.com 

 
 
 

 
Attorneys for Lead Plaintiff Jeffrey M. Fiore and the Class 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 

 
MICHAEL PARDI, Individually and on 
Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated, 
 
 Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
TRICIDA, INC. and GERRITT KLAERNER, 
 
 Defendants. 
  

 
Case No. 4:21-cv-00076-HSG 
 
SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR 
VIOLATIONS OF THE FEDERAL 
SECURITIES LAWS 
 
[REDACTED VERSION OF 
DOCUMENT(S) SOUGHT TO BE 
SEALED] 
 
Class Action 
 
Demand for Jury Trial 
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SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT 
PERMISSION TO FILE GRANTED DEC. 9, 2022 – ECF NO. 112 
4:21-cv-00076-HSG 

2 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1. Lead Plaintiff alleges the following based upon the investigation conducted by and 

through his attorneys, Block & Leviton LLP. This investigation included, but was not limited to  

review and analysis of (i) Tricida’s public filings with the U.S. Securities and Exchange 

Commission (“SEC”), (ii) transcripts of Tricida’s public conference calls, (iii) Tricida’s press 

releases, (iv) independent media reports regarding Tricida, (v) securities analysts’ reports and 

advisories about the Company, (vi) other public statements issued by the Company, (vii) media 

reports about the Company, and (viii) documents produced during pre-trial discovery by the United 

States Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”).  Lead Plaintiff believes that substantial additional 

evidentiary support will exist for the allegations set forth herein after a reasonable opportunity for 

discovery. 

INTRODUCTION 

2. This is a securities class action alleging violations of §§10(b) and 20(a) of the 

Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, and Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5, as promulgated 

thereunder, against Defendants Tricida, Inc. (“Tricida” or the “Company”) and Gerrit Klaerner, 

Ph.D. who founded Tricida and has served as Tricida’s Chief Executive Officer and President 

since August 2013 and is a member of its Board of Directors. 

3. This action is brought on behalf of all investors who purchased Tricida common 

stock during the period June 28, 2018 through February 25, 2021 (the “Class Period”). 

4. The case concerns materially false and misleading statements and omissions of 

material facts about Tricida’s attempts to gain approval from the FDA for its lead investigational 

drug candidate, veverimer (TRC101), “a non-absorbed, orally administered polymer designed to 

treat metabolic acidosis by binding and removing acid from the gastrointestinal tract.” Veverimer 

is intended to slow the progression of chronic kidney disease (“CKD”) through the treatment of 

metabolic acidosis. 

5. Tricida conducted a single Phase 3 study for veverimer and sought approval under 

the FDA’s Accelerated Drug Application (“ADA”) program. To obtain approval under the ADA, 

a pharmaceutical company also must conduct a valid post-marketing trial.  
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1 6. In May 2018, before the Class Period begins, Tricida completed its phase 3 study 

2 forveverimer ("TRCA-301"). Ina press release dated June 5, 2018, Tricida announced thatTRCA-

3 301, "was conducted at 47 sites in the United States and Emope," and "met both its prima1y and 

4 secondary endpoints in a statistically significant manner." 

5 7. Based on the purported strength of these trial results, Tricida went public on Jm1e 

6 28, 2018, selling 13,455,000 million shares of its common stock to the class at $19 per share 

7 (including the exercise of options by the underwriters of the offering) and raising $255.6 million. 

8 Shares began to trnde on Nasdaq on June 28, 2018. The offering registration statement, and its 

9 accompanying prospectus (the "2018 Prospectus"), misrepresented material facts and omitted to 

10 reveal material facts necessary to make the statements that were made therein, not materially 

11 nlisleading. 

12 8. In the 2018 Prospectus, Defendants misrepresented that "[b}ased onfeedbackfrom 

13 the FDA, we believe that the data from the TRCA-101, TRCA 301 and TRCA 301E trials will 

14 provide sufficient evidence of clinical safety and efficacy to suppot1 the submission and review of 

15 an NDA for TRCIOI pmsuant to the Accelerated Approval Program." 2018 Prospectus at 4. 

16 (Emphasis added.) 

17 9. The FDA, however, provided Defendants with specific feedback making the claim 

18 that the tJials would "provide sufficient evidence of clinical safety and efficacy" materially false 

19 and misleading. 

10 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

18 

SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT 

PERMISSION TO FILE GRANTED DEC. 9, 2022-ECFNO. 112 
4:21-cv-00076-HSG 

3 
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SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT 
PERMISSION TO FILE GRANTED DEC. 9. 2022 - ECF No. 112 
4:21-cv-00076-HSG 

4 
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SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT 

PERMISSION TO FILE GRANTED DEC. 9, 2022 - ECF No. 112 
4:21-cv-00076-HSG 

5 
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21. Tricida informed its 

investors in its 2019 Fann 10-K filed with the SEC on March 2_,_ 2020, that "[w]e believe that the 
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data from the TRCA-101, TRCA-301 and TRCA 301E clinical trials will provide sufficient clinical 

ev;dence of safety and efficacy to support the approval of our NDA for veverimer pursuant to the 

3 Accelerated Approval Program." (Emphasis added). 

') 

10 

I 1 

15 

I fi 

7 

.., .... 

22. This statement was materially false and misleading when made. 

Defendants had no basis to claim a belief that the clinical tiials provided "sufficient 

clinical evidence of safety and efficacy to support the approval of our NDA." 
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26. But on May 7, 2020, dming Tricida's 1Q20 earnings call with analysts, Klaerner 

misrepresented 

In our Day 7 4 letter, the FDA indicated that they plan to hold an advis01y 
committee meeting or AdCom to discuss the application. In our late-cycle 

SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT 

PERMISSION TO FILE GRANTED DEC. 9, 2022-ECF No. 112 
4:21-cv-00076-HSG 

9 

Case 23-10024-JTD    Doc 590-3    Filed 08/11/23    Page 19 of 87



Case 4:21-cv-00076-HSG   Document 115   Filed 12/15/22   Page 10 of 77

meeting with the FDA held in May 2020, the FDA indicated it current~y 
does not plan to hold an AdC0111 to discuss veverimer due in part to the 
logistical challe11ges posed by COV!D-19. In 0111· lnre-r.ycle 111eeth1g with 
FDA, we took the opportunity to address outstanding revfow issues. We 
presented om data and rationale as to why we think we ve,y much satisfied 
the require111e11ts for initial approval under the Accelerated Approval 
Program i11c/11di11g the 111ag11it11de mid durability of the treatment effect on 
rhe surrogate markup sen1111 hir:arhonnte demonstrated in the TRCA-301 
uml TRCA-301E trial:;. 

Under the initial approval, we have to ensure that US patients who would 
be prescribed veverimer get clinically significant benefit that outweighs the 
risk of treatment. Overall, while the FDA continues its review, we remain 
r:onflde111 that our .mlm1issio11 111eets the srm1dnrd fm· nppmvnl 1hmugh 1he 
Accelerated Approval Program. 

(e111pl.tasis added). Klaemer blamed 11.Je 

1 I cancellation of the AdCom meeting on COVID-19. This was false. Plus, by purpo1ting to reve.al 

discm,sions with the FDA from the May 2020 !Rte-cycle meeting, 

• Klaerner misleadingly inflated veveri.mer's likelihood offo'DA approval to investors. 

27. Tricida wonlrl l11tcr lrnve more to SAY ahont the ]Ate cycle meeting (in itll Second 

Quarter l 0-Q filed with the Securities aud Exchange Cm.Jll.lllssiou ("SEC") ou August 6, 2020): 

In om late cycle meeting with the .FDA, held in May 2020, we addressed 
two substantive review issues that the FDA had raised in advance of the 
meeting, uamely concems related lo the rnaguilude aud durnbility of the 
treatment effect on the sunogate marker of semm bicarbonate demonstrated 
in the TRCA-301 and TRC:A-301F. trials and the applieAhility of data from 
the TRCA-301 and TRCA-301.E trials to the U.S. population. 1 

But Tricida did not reveal the entire truth as to the reasons underlying why the .FDA found the 

data supp01ting TRCA-301 to be insufficient until it revealed its receipt of the ADL on Febmruy 

25, 2021. 

28. On July 15, 2020, at 5 pl.ll, after the close of trading, Tricida issued a press release 

revealing that it had received a notification from the FDA "stating that, as patt of its ongoing 

review of the Company's [NDA ], the FDA ha.ci identified deficiencies rhat preclude rlisenssion of 

1 Tricida also stated for the first time that it anticipated receiving a Complete Response Letter 
("CRL") for its veverimer NDA, but misleadingly feigned ignorance as to the 1·easons why. 
SbC.:ONV 1\M!;NDbV COM1'LAJNT 
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labeling and postmarketing requirements/commitments at this time…. The notification does not 

specify the deficiencies identified by the FDA.” While the notification itself may not have 

specified the “deficiencies identified by the FDA,” Tricida already knew of those deficiencies from 

its May 2020 meeting and continued to conceal them from investors. Tricida’s stock price plunged 

on July 16, 2020, on this news, falling 40% from its closing price of $26.20 per share on July 15, 

2020, to close at $15.64 on July 16, 2020, wiping out over $530 million in market capitalization. 

29. Tricida issued a press release on August 24, 2020, at 8:30 am, prior to the opening 

of trading, that it received a Complete Response Letter (“CRL”) from the FDA for its NDA for 

veverimer. Tricida disclosed, among other things, that “According to the CRL, the FDA is seeking 

additional data beyond the TRCA-301 and TRCA-301E trials regarding the magnitude and 

durability of the treatment effect of veverimer on the surrogate marker of serum bicarbonate and 

the applicability of the treatment effect to the U.S. population. FDA also expressed concern as to 

whether the demonstrated effect size would be reasonably likely to predict clinical benefit.” 

Tricida’s stock price fell by $3.13 per share, or 24% on this news, wiping out approximately $157 

million in market capitalization. 

30. On October 29, 2020, before markets opened, Tricida announced that during an 

End-of-Review Type A conference held October 20, 2020, with the FDA’s Division of Cardiology 

and Nephrology—which had issued the CRL on August 21, 2020, denying Tricida’s veverimer 

NDA—the FDA told Tricida that it was “unlikely to rely solely on serum bicarbonate data for 

determination of efficacy” and would therefore “require evidence of veverimer’s effect on CKD 

progression from a near-term interim analysis of the VALOR-CKD trial for approval under the 

Accelerated Approval Program.” But because Tricida could not provide this interim information 

from the VALOR-CKD trial “without compromising the integrity of the ongoing trial,” additional 

trials would be required to gather this information. In other words, the FDA rejected the veverimer 

NDA because the single phase 3 trial’s surrogate endpoint was not an adequate stand-in for clinical 

efficacy. The same press release disclosed that Tricida was “significantly reducing its headcount 

from 152 to 59 people and will discuss its commitments with vendors and contract service 

providers to potentially provide additional financial flexibility.”  
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31. In response to this news, Tricida’s stock price fell 47% from its closing price of 

$8.27 per share on October 28, 2020, to close at $4.37 per share on October 29, 2020, wiping out 

nearly another $200 million in market capitalization. 

32. Tricida issued a press release on December 8, 2020, sixteen minutes before markets 

closed for the day, announcing that the Company had failed to “come to a resolution with the 

Division of Cardiology and Nephrology on the resubmission of our NDA during our Type A 

meeting,” submitted a Formal Dispute Resolution Request arguing that the TRCA-301 trial results 

are reasonably likely to predict clinical benefit, and revised the protocol for the VALOR-CKD 

trial. On this news, Tricida’s stock price fell 17.73%, from a close of $8.12 per share on December 

8, 2020, to close at $6.68 per share on December 9, 2020, wiping out yet another $72 million in 

market capitalization 

33. Twenty-five minutes before markets closed on February 25, 2021, Tricida 

announced that it had received an ADL from the FDA. The ADL concluded (1) the “extent of 

serum bicarbonate increase observed in the TRCA-301/TRCA-301E trial is not reasonably likely 

to provide a discernible reduction in CKD progression,” (2) “the confirmatory trial, VALOR-CKD, 

is underpowered,” (3) the trial results were “strongly influenced by a single site,” and (4) “the 

majority of sites for the TRCA-301/TRCA-301E trial” were in Eastern Europe, “where differences 

in patient management … might affect the treatment response to veverimer,” rendering 

questionable “the applicability to a U.S. patient population.” This was the first time Tricida 

revealed to investors that the trial results were “strongly influenced by a single site” and that the 

“majority of sites” for the trials were in Eastern Europe. Tricida’s stock price fell 30.57% in 

response to these revelations, from a closing price of $7.36 per share on February 25, 2021, to 

$5.11 per share a close on February 26, 2021, wiping out $93 million more in market capitalization. 

34. Lead Plaintiff, Jeffrey M. Fiore, and all other investors purchased Tricida common 

stock at artificially inflated prices and were damaged as the truth was revealed and the artificial 

inflation was eliminated. 
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

35. This Complaint asserts claims under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act, 

15 U.S.C. §§ 78j(b) and 78t(a), and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, including 

SEC Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (“Rule 10b-5”). 

36. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action under Section 27 

of the Exchange act, 15 U.S.C. § 78aa and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1337. 

37. Venue is proper in this District under Section 27 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 

78aa, and 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), (c), and (d). Many of the acts and omissions that constitute the 

alleged violations of law, including the dissemination to the public of untrue statements of material 

facts, occurred in this District. 

38. In connection with the acts alleged in this Complaint, Defendants, directly or 

indirectly, used the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, including the United 

States mail, interstate telephone communications, and the facilities of national securities 

exchanges. 

PARTIES 

39. Lead Plaintiff Jeffrey M. Fiore, a resident of Texas, purchased Tricida common 

stock during the Class Period on the Nasdaq Global Select Market and was damaged thereby. See 

ECF No. 12-2, Ex. B. 

40. Defendant Tricida is a Delaware corporation with principal executive offices 

located at 7000 Shoreline Court, Suite 201, South San Francisco, California 94080. Tricida 

common stock trades in an efficient market on the Nasdaq Global Select Market (“NASDAQ”) 

under the ticker symbol “TCDA.” Since its founding in 2013, the Company has incurred 

significant operation losses and had yet to develop any drug that the FDA approved for marketing 

and sales in the United States. Tricida is a control person of Gerrit Klaerner within the meaning of 

§ 20(a) of the Exchange Act. 

41. Defendant Gerrit Klaerner, Ph.D. founded Tricida and has served as Tricida’s Chief 

Executive Officer and President since August 2013. He has also held a seat on Tricida’s board of 

directors since July 2013. Previously, Klaerner founded Relypsa, Inc., serving as President and 
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Director from October 2007 until June 2013. Before that, Klaener co-founded Ilypsa, Inc., serving 

as its Director of Technology Assessment and Business Development from January 2003 until 

December 2006, and as its Chief Business Officer and Senior Vice President from December 2006 

until July 2007. Before Ilypsa, Klaerner was employed at Symyx Technologies, Inc. as a Staff 

Scientist, Senior Staff Scientist, and Director Business Development. Klaerner attended meetings 

with and inspections by the FDA, including the May 6. 2015 meeting, the November 30, 2016 

meeting, the February 9, 2017 meeting, the July 26, 2017 meeting, the March 6, 2018 meeting, the 

June 3, 2019 meeting, the January 27, 2020 meeting, and the May 1, 2020 meeting. Additionally, 

the Establishment Inspection Report for the inspection of Tricida’s South San Francisco facility 

from December 9-17, 2019, reports that the FDA inspector met with Klaerner before the facility 

inspection and afterwards to debrief the results. 

42. Prior to and during the Class Period, Klaerner was responsible for complying with 

the Company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 

deemed Klaerner, as Chief Executive Officer, one of the three “sole authorized spokepersons for 

the Company.” Klaerner made or had authority over the content and dissemination of the false and 

misleading statements and omissions set forth herein and is liable for those false statements and 

omissions. Klaerner is also a control person of Tricida within the meaning of § 20(a) of the 

Exchange Act. 

BACKGROUND 

43. A healthy kidney filters toxins and other harmful substances, including acid, from 

the blood. Patients suffering from chronic kidney disease (“CKD”), however, have a compromised 

ability to excrete acid via their kidneys. Consequently, CKD patients can develop metabolic 

acidosis – an excessive buildup of acid in body fluids. If not treated, Metabolic acidosis can result 

in progression of CKD, muscle breakdown, the development or exacerbation of bone disease, and 

death.  

44. Metabolic acidosis in patients with CKD is often treated in the U.S. with oral alkali 

supplements, such as oral antacids. However, alkali supplements reduce acid levels at the cost of 

raising sodium levels in the body, which can in turn worsen conditions that commonly accompany 
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1 CKD, such as hypertension and heart failure. Consequently, alkali supplements typically cannot 

2 be used in patients with anything more than mild cases of metabolic acidosis, and there exists an 

3 unmet need for safe and effective treatments for metabolic acidosis inpatients with CKD. 

4 45. Tricida, founded in 2013, is a clinical-stage biophrumaceutical company focused 

5 on the discovery, development, and commercialization of non-absorbed therapies. Its lead 

6 investigation.al drng candidate is veverimer (TRC101), "a non-absorbed, orally administered 

7 polymer designed to t1·eat metabolic acidosis by binding and removing acid from the 

8 gastrnintestinal tract." Veverimer is intended to bind with hydrochloric acid in the gastrnintestinal 

9 trnct, thereby purporting to slow the prngression of CKD through the treatment of metabolic 

10 acidosis. 

11 46. Tricida planned to submit its NDA for veverimer to the FDA for review thrnugh 

12 the Agency's ADA. Under the ADA, if the Phase 3 program demonstrates clinical efficacy by 

13 achieving a predetennined srnrngate endpoint, achml clinical efficacy (e.g. reduced prngression of 

14 CKD) must thereafter be demonstrated through a confirmatory postmarketing trial. Tricida sought 

15 to use blood serum bicarbonate ("SBC") levels as a surrogate endpoint. 

16 _____ TRICIDA'S INTERACTIONS \VITH THE FDA 

17 

18 
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15 62. In May 2018, Tricida completed the single veverimer Phase 3 hial, TRCA-301. In 

16 announcing the trial's results, Tricida described TRCA-301 as a "multicenter, randomized, double-

17 blind, placebo controlled" clinical trial. The Company annom1ced on June 5, 2018, that TRCA-

18 301, which "was conducted at 4 7 sites in the United States and Europe," "met both its prima1y and 

19 secondaty endpoints in a statistically significant manner" and that 196 of the 217 CKD patients 

10 from the Phase 3 TRCA-301 trial agreed to continue their pa11icipation in a 40-week blinded 

21 extension trial (TRCA-301 E). 

22 63. Tricida knew that the majority of trial sites were in Eastern Eluope and that a single 

23 site was ahnost entirely responsible for the trial's favorable results. 

24 

25 
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1 

2 

3 

4 65. Nonetheless, c.apitalizing on what it presented as positive Phase 3 trial results, 

5 Tricida made an initial public offering ("IPO") of stock on June 28, 2018 and sold approximately 

6 $255 million in common stock to the class. The 2018 Prospectus touted the success of the TRCA-

7 301 trial and represented that "[b ]ased on feedback from the FDA, we believe that the data from 

8 the TRCA-101, TRCA-301, and TRCA-301E trials will provide sufficient evidence of clinical 

9 safety and efficacy to support the submission and review of an NDA for TRCl0l pursuant to the 

10 [ADA]." 

11 66. During an earnings call on Miu-ch 28, 2019, Klaemer reported that Tricida had the 

12 results of TRCA-301 's extension trial, TRCA-301E, which continued on with willing participants 

13 for 40 additional weeks after TRCA-301 's 12-week nm. Klaeruer rep011ed that the combined 

14 results of the TRCA-30lffRCA-301E tTial "far exceeded om expectations": Not only did the 

15 extension tTial "me[e)t its primary and all secondaty endpoints," but "we have observed evidence 

16 of clinical benefit in TRC101-treated subjects, including reduced all-cause mortality, slowing of 

17 CKD progression and improved physical function." Klaemer shared that "we feel good about what 

18 we've learned in the 301E study regarding safety and efficacy, increasing om confidence for a 

19 successful V ALOR-CKD trial." 

10 67. Tricida and Klaemer repeated the same statements about the success of the Phase 

21 3 pivotal trial, its extension, and the design of the confinnatmy postmarketing trial (without 

22 mentioning any of their known critical shortcomings) in each and eve1y Tricida SEC filing and 

23 quarterly earnings call through May 2020. 

24 68. During the Q4 2018 earnings call on March 28, 2019, Chief Financial Officer 

25 Geoffrey M. Parker reported that Tricida's cash, cash equivalents, and investments totaled $243.4 

26 at the end of2018 which, in conjunction with a recently amended debt facility, would only allow 

27 the Company to fund its "anticipated opernting expenses and capital expenditure requirements into 

18 2021," i.e. "the initial commercial launch period for TRC101." The Company had raised 
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1 approximately $255 million in its initial public offering in June 2018, so without the fimds raised 

2 in the offe1i.ng, at that point in time, Tricida, would have been out of cash. Tricida needed 

3 additional money to fund anything other than a flawless accelerated approval of veverimer, and 

4 even then, there was not enough cash to fully coIIllilercialize the drug. Based 011 the publicly-

5 presented prospects for FDA approval for veverimer, Tricida sold 6.44 million shares of common 

6 stock, at $36 per share, for over $231 million in a secondary stock offering: completed on April 8, 

7 I 2019. 

8 

9 

10 I 

11 

12 

13 

14 I 

15 

16 

17 

18 71. On September 4, 2019, Tricida announced that it had submitted the veverimer NDA 

19 through the ADA in late August 2019. And on November 14, 2019, Tricida annmmced that the 

10 FDA had accepted its NDA for review under the ADA and assigned a Prescription Dmg User Fee 

21 Act ("PDUFA") date of August 22, 2020. Tricida also mentioned that em-olhnent in the VALOR-

22 CKD trial was estimated to be completed in mid-2020. 
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TRI CID A AND KLAERNE-R REVEAL THE FDA'S CONCER._NS PIECEMEAL 

79. Tricida announced in a press release on, July 15, 2020, tl1at it had received a 

notification from the FDA "stating that, as pa11 of its ogoing review of the Company's [NDA], the 

FDA has identified deficiencies that preclude discussion of labeling and postmarketing 

requirements/commitments at this time.... The notification does not specify the deficiencies 

identified by the FDA." In response to this news, on unusually heavy trnding activity, Tricida's 

stock price dropped sha1ply in one day, falling $10.56 per share in response to the news to close 

at $15.64 per share on July 16, 2020. 
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80. Although the notification may not have specified the deficiencies, Tricida and 

Klaerner knew the deficiencies the FDA had been raising for years. Indeed, they—better than 

anyone—knew the shortcomings of the veverimer trials. The second quarter 2020 Form 10-Q, 

filed August 6, 2020, finally disclosed some of the deficiencies: 

In our late cycle meeting with the FDA, held in May 2020, we addressed 
two substantive review issues that the FDA had raised in advance of the 
meeting, namely concerns related to the magnitude and durability of the 
treatment effect on the surrogate marker of serum bicarbonate demonstrated 
in the TRCA-301 and TRCA-301E trials and the applicability of data from 
the TRCA-301 and TRCA-301E trials to the U.S. population.  

In the same 10-Q, the Company finally conceded that “we are likely to receive … a Complete 

Response Letter, or CRL.” 

81. During an August 5, 2020, earnings call, an analyst demonstrated how even experts 

in the market had been misled into believing that Tricida had secured the FDA’s cooperation, 

asking Klaerner to “remind us of the process that you went through to get the FDA to sign off on 

the design of the pivotal study and in particular, the serum bicarbonate primary endpoint. Was 

there any disagreement between you and the FDA in the design? Or are you both on the same 

page?” Klaerner offered a carefully worded response, stating the Company had reached agreement 

with the FDA (1) “that we are treating a serious disease, that there is an unmet medical need and 

that we have a surrogate that’s likely going to translate to clinical benefit,” and (2) on “a 

quantitative understanding … of how the surrogate really impacts … the progression of kidney 

disease.” Based on those agreements, said Klaerner, Tricida designed the TRCA-301/TRCA-301E 

and VALOR-CKD trials. 

82. On August 24, 2020, Tricida announced that it had received the anticipated CRL 

and revealed that the FDA’s concerns were, in fact, the very issues the FDA had raised in advance 

of the late cycle meeting in May 2020 (and which Tricida had always known, but never disclosed 

to the market). Klaerner was quoted as saying “we are pleased that the FDA has provided helpful, 

specific comments and indicated their willingness to continue to work with us to pursue approval 

of veverimer.” The Company also said it would request a Type A meeting with the FDA to discuss 

next steps. 
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83. The contents of the CRL were not disclosed to the mai·ket. 

85. On September 21, 2020, Tricida formally requested a Type A meeting with the 

86. On October 29, 2020, Tricida provided an update to investors on the Type A 

26 meeting. Tricida proposed conducting an interim analysis of data from about 500 patients in the 

27 V ALOR-CKD trial, hoping that it would allow the Company to resubmit its NDA "within a matter 

18 of months," but the FDA rejected the proposal. "Based on feedback during the Type A meeting," 
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Tricida revealed that it “now believes the FDA will also require evidence of veverimer’s effect on 

CKD progression from a near-term interim analysis of the VALOR-CKD trial for approval under 

the Accelerated Approval Program and that the FDA is unlikely to rely solely on serum bicarbonate 

data for determination of efficacy.” 

87. During an analyst call the same day, Klaerner acknowledged for the first time that 

the TRCA-301/TRCA-301E trials failed to enroll enough subjects who were representative of the 

U.S. patient population. Describing future enrollment in the VALOR-CKD trial, Klaerner said, 

“We are focusing on U.S. and Western Europe and Canada to get more patients from those regions, 

even though we think that patients are pretty much the same all over the world, but it does make 

sense to add in a few more from those more U.S.-like countries. And FDA asked us to do that.” 

(Emphasis added). 

88. The stock price took another hit on this news, falling from a closing price of $8.27 

per share on October 28, 2020, to close at $4.37 per share on October 29, 2020. 

89. On December 8, 2020, Tricida announced that it had revised the protocol for its 

VALOR-CKD trial, switching from “an adaptive design” with “an unblinded interim analysis for 

sample size re-estimation” to “a group sequential design, no interim analysis for sample size 

adjustment, and unblinded interim analyses for early stopping for efficacy after 150 primary 

endpoint events … and 250 primary endpoint events … have accrued.” Despite having repeatedly 

stated its commitment to fully enrolling or nearly fully enrolling the VALOR-CKD trial prior to 

NDA submission, Tricida revised the expected date by which enrollment would be completed to 

the end of 2022. 

90. Tricida submitted a Formal Dispute Resolution Request just a few days earlier, on 

December 3, 2020, in a final attempt to convince the FDA that the magnitude and durability of 

serum bicarbonate change seen in the TRCA-301/TRCA-301E trial was reasonably likely to 

predict clinical benefit in the treatment of CKD.  

91. On February 17, 2021, Tricida received an Appeal Denied Letter (“ADL”) from the 

FDA’s Office of New Drugs (“OND”). OND cited to its prior communications with Tricida in 
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explaining that it had consistently maintained that the treatment effect on serum bicarbonate would 

have to be of sufficient magnitude to justify approval: 

In addition to the limitations of Study TRCA-301/-301E leading to the 
determination that there was not substantial evidence of effectiveness based 
upon this single trial, the Division also concluded that the extent of effect 
on SBC observed was not “reasonably likely” to predict benefit on CKD 
progression. In earlier meetings you had with the Division, the Division 
expressed skepticism that SBC was an acceptable surrogate for delay of 
CKD progression. For example, the Division commented that “...we do not 
agree that the submitted data are sufficient to support the use of serum 
bicarbonate concentrations as a surrogate endpoint for a treatment effect on 
renal, bone, and/or muscle function-related outcomes in the proposed 
population.” (Meeting Minutes 12/23/2016). In a subsequent meeting, the 
Division ultimately did agree that SBC may be a reasonably likely surrogate 
but noted that “a key issue is whether the magnitude of the treatment 
effect on serum bicarbonate....is sufficient to provide confidence that the 
treatment will have the anticipated benefit...”. (Meeting Minutes, 3/9/17). 
The Division went on to point out that the way to assess this was to assure 
that the confirmatory trial was powered to see the anticipated effect size on 
CKD progression. 

*  *  * 
You note that the 5.5 mEq/L increase relative to placebo predicts a 32% 
relative risk reduction in the CKD composite. You then state that “the 
Division’s suggestion that any benefit short of this would be seen as 
unacceptably modest is not defensible.” (Page 27, FDRR letter). As I have 
already noted, this misrepresents the concern expressed in the CR 
letter—that the relatively small increase in SBC with TRC101 may not 
provide a discernible reduction in CKD progression. . . . this perspective 
is entirely consistent with prior advice from the Division—as I noted 
already. That is, the increment in SBC with TRC101 in Study TRCA-301/-
301E does not meet the “test” advised by the Division—that the size of the 
increase in SBC should be anticipated to translate to a reduction in the renal 
composite endpoint for which the confirmatory study is powered (meeting 
minutes 3/9/17, quoted above). 

(Emphasis added). 

92. On February 25, 2021, Tricida disclosed its receipt of the ADL and shared the basis 

for the OND’s rejection of the veverimer NDA: 

In the ADL, the OND acknowledged that the TRCA-301/TRCA-301E trial 
met its serum bicarbonate endpoints with statistical significance but 
concluded that the extent of serum bicarbonate increase observed in the 
TRCA-301/TRCA-301E trial is not reasonably likely to provide a 
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discernible reduction in CKD progression. The OND also concluded that 
the confirmatory trial, VALOR CKD, is underpowered to detect the effect 
size (13%) predicted by the original Tangri model (also known as the 
Predictive MA Model) based upon the placebo-subtracted mean treatment 
effect observed in the TRCA-301/TRCA-301E trial. 
The OND also provided feedback on other concerns that are particularly 
relevant in an NDA supported by a single registrational trial. The OND 
noted concerns around the trial results being strongly influenced by a single 
site, and the majority of sites for the TRCA-301/TRCA-301E trial being in 
Eastern Europe, where differences in patient management, including 
concomitant medications and diet, might affect the treatment response to 
veverimer and raise a concern of the applicability to a U.S. patient 
population. 

93. Tricida’s stock price took another hit as investors responded to this news, falling 

from a close of $7.36 per share on February 25, 2021, to close at $5.11 per share on February 26, 

2021. 

DEFENDANTS’ MATERIALLY FALSE AND MISLEADING STATEMENTS AND 
OMISSIONS 

Pre-Class Period Statements 

94. On June 5, 2018, Tricida issued a press release titled “Tricida Announces Positive 

Pivotal Phase 3 Clinical Trial Results for TRC101 in CKD Patients with Metabolic Acidosis.”  The 

press release stated, in pertinent part, 

Tricida, Inc., a late-stage pharmaceutical company, announced results from 
its pivotal Phase 3 double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled, multi-
center Phase 3 clinical trial, TRCA-301, in 217 chronic kidney disease 
(CKD) patients with metabolic acidosis. TRC101 represents a first-in-class 
candidate for the treatment of metabolic acidosis, a common complication 
of CKD that can accelerate progression of kidney disease, increase the risk 
of muscle wasting and cause the loss of bone density. 
Based on the initial topline analyses, the TRCA-301 trial met both its 
primary and secondary endpoints in a highly statistically significant 
manner (p < 0.0001 for all primary and secondary endpoints). TRC101 was 
well tolerated in the TRCA-301 trial. Both active (124 subjects) and placebo 
groups (93 subjects) had low discontinuation rates and low rates of 
treatment-related adverse events. 

* * * 
The TRCA-301 double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled Phase 3 trial 
was conducted at 47 sites in the United States and Europe and enrolled 217 
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Stage 3b or 4 CKD patients with baseline blood bic.arbouate levels between 
12 mEq/L and 20 mEq/L. Subjects were randomized in a 4:3 ratio to receive 
TRCl0l or placebo. The shldy dmg dosing (TRC:101 or placebo) continued 
for 12 weeks once daily. The primary outcome measure was change froru 
baseline in blood bicarbonate (Time Frame: Week 12) and included 
coU1IJarisou of TRCl0l aud placebo willi regard lo the proporlious of 
subjects with change froru baseline in. blood bicarbonate~ 4 ruEq/L or with 
blood bicarbonate in the nomrnl range (22 to 29 mF.q/L). Eligible subjects 
that completed the TRCA-30 I trial were invited to pa1iicipate in a 40-week 
safety e:...iension trial, TRCA-301E. Of rhe 208 sub;ects who completed the 
TRCA-301 uial. 196 were enrolled it1 the TRCA-301E safety exre11sio11 trial. 

*** 

Tricirla, Inc., is a late-stage phamrncc11tical compnny focused on the 
development and commercialization of TRCl0l, a non-absorbed, orally­
dosed polymer drug designed to treat metabolic acidosis in patients with 
chronic kiduey disease. The results of llie pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial 
reported today, along with results from a successful double-blind, 
randomized, placebo-controlled Phase I /2 trinl nnd flJl ongoing snfcty 
extension trial, TRCA-301E, are intended to serve as the basis for the 
submission of a U.S. New Drug Application (NDA) for TRC 101 under the 
Accelerated Approval Program of the U.S. Food and Drug AdJuinistration 
(FDA). 

95. The statements identified in italics above were false and misleading. The statement 

that TRCA-301 was a "multi-center" trial "conducted at 47 sites in the United States and Europe" 

was U1alerially false aud misleading wheu wade for lwo reasous, aud Defoudauts kuew or 

recklessly disregarded the truth in making the statement. First, most trial sites for the TRCA-

301/TRCA-301E trial were in Eastem Emope, specifically, and second, 

both 

material pieces of information for an investor to be able to accmately assess the likelihood that 

veverimer would receive FDA approval The omission of these facts was material and stating that 

llie TRCA-30 I trial was "rnulli-ceuter" and conducted "al '17 sites iu llie Uuiled Stales and Europe" 

was materia.lly misleading. 

96. Demonstrating that a pivotal trial is adequate and well contrnlled under 21 C.F.R. 

§ 314.126 requires showing that any foreign data are applicable to the U.S. population and U.S. 

medical practice. F FDA, Guidance for l11dusft31 and FDA Staff, FDA Acceptance of Foreigll 

Cf;n;ca/ Stud;es Not Conducted Under an IND Freq11eJ1tly Ask.eel Questions 9 (March 2012), 
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1 https://www.fda.gov/media/83209/download; see also Nancy J. Stark, Clinical Studies: Europe or 

2 the United States?, Medical Device & Diagnostic Industiy (May 1, 2004), 

3 https ://www.mddionline.com/news/ clinical-studies-eurnpe-or-united-states ("FDA's most 

4 cofillilon objection to European data is related to how representative European subjects are of the 

5 U.S. patient population."). But "geographic, socio-economic, infrastruchue, culhual and 

6 educational features" of "the Eastern European nephrology community" mean that "[ s ]everal 

7 aspects of CKD differ significantly" compared with Western Etu-ope, which is generally 

8 considered to be the most U.S.-like foreign region besides Canada. Mehmet Suk:m Sever, et. al., 

9 A Roadmap for Optimizing Chronic Kidney Disease Patient Care and Patient-Oriented Research 

10 in the Eastern European Nephrology Community, Clinical Kidney J. (Dec. 22, 2020), 

11 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7857792/. Thus, the fact that a majority of trial 

12 sites for the 1RCA-301/TRCA-301E trial were in Eastern Europe, specifically, raised the risk that 

13 trial participants would not be sufficiently representative of the U.S. patient population and U.S. 

14 medical practice for the FDA to accept the ti"ial results. This, in tum, was material to any investor's 

15 assessment of the risk that veverimer would or would not receive FDA approval. Accordingly, the 

16 omission of the fac.t that a majority of tJ:ial sites for the Phase 3 trial were in Eastern Europe from 

17 the statement that the TRCA-301 trial was conducted "at 4 7 sites in the United States and Europe" 

18 rendered it false and misleading. 

19 97. T ricida and Klaemer knew that this omission made the statement about T ricida 's 

10 Phase 3 trial having been conducted "at 4 7 sites in the United States and Europe" false and 

21 misleading because the FDA specifically raised the issue with Tricida. 
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Tricida and Klaemer knew, or recklessly disregarded, that the FDA 

would carefully and c1itically consider where the patients who made up TRCA-301 were located. 

Despite this, 

98. Given that T1icida intended to submit an NDA predicated upon only a single pivotal 

9 Phase 3 trial, Tricida and Klaemer knew that the TRCA-301!IRCA-301E trial would receive 

10 enhanced scrutiny from the FDA Indeed, FDA guidance makes clear that "[a] conclusion based 

11 on two persuasive studies will always be more secme than a c.onclusion based on a single, 

12 comparably persuasive study." FDA, Guidance for Indusf1y, Providing Clinical Evidence of 

13 Effectiveness for Human Dmg and Biological Products 13 (May 1998), 

14 https://www.fda.gov/media/71655/download. "For this Jeason, Jeliance on only a single study will 

15 generally be limited to situations in which a trial has demonstrated a clinically meaningful effect 

16 on motiality, irreversible morbidity, or prevention of a disease with potentially serious outcome 

17 and confirmation of the result in a second trial would be practically or ethically impossible." Id. 

18 One of the characteristics the FDA looks for in a single study capable of suppotiing an 

19 effectiveness claim is "a large multicenter sh1dy in which ( 1) no single sh1dy site provided an 

10 unusually large fraction of the patients and (2) no single investigator or site was dispropotiionately 

21 responsible for the favorable effect seen." Id. Tricida and Klaemer knew the patient emollment 

22 details for its own study, and they knew that data from one high-enrolling clinical site, -

23 _, had a disproportionate impact on the trial's results. 

24 . Tricida and Klaemer knew, or recklessly disregarded, that patients 

25 dispropotiionately emolled in one trial site undennined the so-called "randomness" of the u·ial and 

26 unde1mined its c1edibility with the FDA This info1mation was material to any investor's 

27 assessment of the risk that veve1imer would or would not receive FDA approval. The omission of 

18 
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this infonnation from the statement that the Phase 3 n.-ial was "multi-center" and "conducted at 47 

sites'' rendered it materially false and misleading. 

99. It was also misleading to tout that TRCA-301 "met both its primary and seconda1y 

4 endpoints in a highly statistically significant manner" 
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26 100. Tricida's statement that TRCA-301 had "met both its prima1y and secondaty 

27 endpoints in a highly statistically significant manner" was further misleading 

18 

SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT 
PERMISSION TO FILE GRANTED DEC. 9, 2022 -ECF NO. 112 
4:21-cv-00076-HSG 

34 

Case 23-10024-JTD    Doc 590-3    Filed 08/11/23    Page 44 of 87



Case 4:21-cv-00076-HSG   Document 115   Filed 12/15/22   Page 35 of 77

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

10 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

18 

Materially False and Misleading Statements and Omissions Concerning the IPO 

101. On June 27, 2018, Tricida filed a Fonn S-1/ A and related Rule 424(b )( 4) Prospectus 

in connection with the Company's IPO ("2018 Prospectus"), both of which were signed by 

Defendant Klaerner. Under "Om Development Program for TRC101," the 2018 Prospech1s stated, 

In May 2018, we completed our pivotal Phase 3 clinical tiial, TRCA-301. 
The double blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial emolled 217 
subjects with Stage 3b or 4 CKD (an estimated glomemlar filtration rate, or 
eGFR, of 20 to 40 mL/min/1. 73m2) and low blood bicarbonate levels 
(between 12 mEq/L and 20 mEq/L). 

* * * 

We conducted the trial at 47 sites in the United States and Europe. 

Under "Risk Disclostues," the 2018 Prospectus stated, "We recently completed a randomized, 

double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicenterpivotal Phase 3 clinical trial for TRCJOJ, known as 

TRCA-301." 

102. For the reasons stated in 95-98, the statements identified in italics above were 

materially false and misleading and omitted material infonnation, and Defendants knew or 

recklessly disregarded the trnth in making these statements. 

it was misleading for Defendants to omit to reveal to 

investors that the vast majmity of the patients came from Eastern Europe and that 

103. Established knowledge about foreign patient populations and FDA guidance aside, 

Tricida also demonstrated its knowledge of the falsity and materiality of these statements through 

the included risk disclosures. The 2018 Prospectus cautioned that "the FDA may detennine that 
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clinical trial results obtained in foreign subjects do not represent the safety and efficacy of a 

product when Rdministcrcd in U.S. pflticnts and fire thns not supportive of Rn NDA approval in the 

Uuile<l States." Similarly, Ille 2018 Prospectus wame<l al pages '10-'1 l, 

Although the FDA may accept data from clinical trials conducted outside 
the lfoitcd St11tcs in s11pp011 of sRfcty Rnci cffic11cy clflims for TRC'l 01, this 
is subject lo cerlaiu couditious. For example, such foreigu cliuical IIials 
should be conducted in accordance with GCPs, including review and 
approval by an independent ethics committee and obtaining the infonned 
consent from subjects of the clinical trials. 1l1eforeig11 clinical data should 
af.w lu~ applicable rn 1he ll.S. pop11lmio11 and US. medical practice. Other 
faclurs that may aj]ed the acceptance ofjoreign clh1ical data include 
d/ffere11ces in clinical co11ditio11s, study pop11latio11s or ref?;1tlato1y 
requh'emenfs between the United States and 1heforeig11 c01mt1y. 

We conducted the TRCA-301 trial a11d are conducting the TRCA-301E trial 
with 111ajoriry e11roll111ent 0111.~irle the United St mes and 111ny, i11 the fi.1111,-e, 
conduct c/;nical trials of our product cm1didates outside the United Stales. 
Die FDA may not accept s11chforeig11 clinical data, and in such event, we 
may be required to re-conduct the relevant clinical trials within the United 
States, which would be costly and time-consuming, and which could have 
a material and adverse effect on om ability to cany out om business plans. 

Not only were both statements were too generalized to actually disclaim the specific risk inherent 

in relyiug upon a study with majmity enrolhuenl ol'Easleru European palieuts who are uulikely lo 

be representative of the U.S. patient population and U.S. medical care, but they were misleading. 

As stated above and in m]95-98, Tricida and Klaemer specifically knew the risks of using clinical 

data from a patient population outside the United States 

■ Yet, Tricida and Klaerne1· omitted to reveal that the Phase 3 TRCA-301 trial was conducted 

using a patient population from Eastern Europe-which the FDA does not 

cousider lo be applicable lo a United Stales patieul population un<ler llie circllillslauces-aud that 

, making the risk disclosure not 

only ineffective but false and misleading. 

104. The 2018 Prospectus fmiber stated: 

Our development program for TRCI O 1 is <lei;igued lo oblain approval of 
TRClOl pursuant to the FDA's Accelerated Approval Program. Under the 
Accelerated Approval Program, we plan to pursue approval for TRCIOI 
based upon efficacy data related to a primaiy endpoint measuring a change 
from hRselinc in blood hicaJ'bonatc level. We have completed a successful 
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135-subject, Phase 1/2 trial, JRCA-101, and a 217-subject, pivotal Phase 3 
clinical tJial, TRCA-301. Eligible subjects who completed the 12-week 
treatment period in om pivotal TRCA-301 trial were invited to continue in 
our 40-week safety extension trial, TRCA-301E, which we expect to 
complete in the first half of 2019. Based on feedback from the FDA, we 
believe that the data from the TRCA-101, TRCA-301 and TRCA-30JE trials 
will provide sufficient evidence of clinical safety and efficacy to support the 
submission and review of an NDAfor TRCJ0J pursuant to the Accelerated 
Approval Program. We plan to submit an NDA for TRC101 in the second 
half of 2019. 

In addition to the reasons explained above in ff99, 100, the statement identified in italics above 

was false and misleading, or omitted to disclose material facts necessary to keep it from being 

misleading, because 

105. Accordingly, it was materially false and misleading for Defendants to state that the 

FDA's "feedback" indicated that data from TRCA-301 sufficiently suppmied accelerated approval 

while failing to disclose 

also had no reasonable basis to believe that the data from TRCA-301 was sufficient to support 

accelerated approval as 

106. Tue 2018 Prospectus also stated: 

The TRCA-301 trial met both ifs primwy and secondmy endpoints in a 
highly statistical~y significant manner (p < 0.0001 for all primaiy and 
secondaiy endpoints). TRCIOI was well tolerated in our TRCA-301 trial. 
Both active (124 subjects) and placebo groups (93 subjects) had low 
discontinuation rates and low rates of treatment-related adverse events. 
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*** 

J11Wal topli11e a11alvsis of our pivotal Phase 3 cli11ical trial, TRCA-301, 
inrlir.ates that treatment with TRr /0 I resulted i11 stati,~tir.ally signifir.am 
increases in blood bicarbonate, meeting both the primary and secondary 
e11dpoi11ts of the trial. After 12 weeks qf treatment, 59.2% qf subjects in the 
TRCJ0J-lreuted group, compared with 22.5% of subjects in the placebo 
groip, exhibited a,1 increase i11 blood bicarbonate level of at least 4 mEq/L 
nr ar.hieverl a blond bir.arbn11ate level in the 11nr111rrl m11ge of 22 to 29 
111Hq/L, wl,;ch was the primary endpoint of the trial Die second my endpoint 
of the trirrl, the mean change in blood bicarbo1wte fi·o111 baseline to week 
12, was 4.49 111Eq/L in the TRCJ0l-treated group, compared with 1.66 
111Eq/L ill the placebo group. The results of the pri111a1J' and seco11dm)' 
e11dpoh1ts were highZv swfisrir.al~y significant (p < 0.0007). 

107. For the reasons statcrl in ,r,r99, 100, the statements irlcntificd in italicsahove were 

IUalerially fal.se and misleading aud omitted material iufonnaliou, aud Defoudauts kuew or 

recklessly disregarded the truth in making these statements. 

I 08. Roth the 2018 Prospectus encl tJ1c Prospectus accompanying the April 2019 offering 

IUade lhe following addilioual sla(emeuts regarding llte endpoints aud maguilude of llte trealrneul 

effect: 

Because we are developing a product candidate for the treatment of a 
disease or condition 011 the basis of a11 1111valida1ed surrogate e11dpoi111, 
tit ere are i11creased risks that the FDA or otlter regulatory autltorities may 
fi11d that our cli11ica/ program provides ins11fficie11t evidence of cli11ical 
benefit, may have diilicully analyzing aud inle1preting lhe resulls of our 
clinical program, and may delay or refuse to approve TRCl0l. 

In addition. we are not aware of any chronic therapeutic agent that bas 
previously been approved by the PDA on the basis of a clinical trial that 
w,crl hloo<l hicarhonatc level as the primary endpoint. We have cngagcrl in 
discussious wilh ll.J.e FDA regarding llie desigu of ow- pivotal Phase 3 
clinical trial, TRCA-301, and whether the use of blood bicarbonate as a 
surrogate endpoint is reasonably likely to predict clinical benefit. However, 
the FDA has discretion at any time, including during the NDA review, to 
dctcnninc whether there is support for the 1.11ic of bloo<l bicarhonatc as a 
swrng<1le eudpoinl. 
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Key issues with our endpoint include uncertainty about the degree of 
change from baseline blood bicarbonate that will translate into improved 
clinical outcomes, the population in which such change is expected to 
translate into improved clinical outcomes, and the need for data 
supporting a causal relationship between blood bicarbonate 
concentration and clinical outcomes. As a result, we cannot be certain 
that FDA will ultimately conclude that the design and results of our 
pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial, TRCA-301, which uses changes from 
baseline in blood bicarbonate level as the primary endpoint, will be 
sufficient for approval of TRCJ 01. 

Moreover, even if the FDA does find that changes from. baseline in blood 
bicarbonate are sufficiently likely to predict clinical benefit for patients, the 
FDA may not agree that we have achieved the primary endpoint in our 
pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial, TRCA-301, to the magnitude or to the degree 
of statistical significance required by the FDA. Fmiher, even if those 
requirements are satisfied, the FDA also could give oveniding weight to 
inconsistent or othe1wise confounding results on other efficacy endpoints 
or other results of the trial, including results on secondaiy and explorato1y 
endpoints. The FDA also weighs the benefits of a product against its risks 
and the FDA may view the efficacy results in the context of safety as not 
being supportive of regulatory approval. Regulatory authorities in other 
countries may take similar positions. 

For the reasons stated in fflf99, 100, the statements identified in italics above were too generalized 

to actually disclaim the specific issues repeatedly raised to Tricida and Klearner by the FDA. The 

statements were materially false and misleading and omitted material infonnation, and Defendants 

knew or recklessly disregarded the truth in making these statements. As stated in fflf23, 47-50, 

Materially False and Misleading Statements and Omissions 
Concerning the Second and Third Quarters of 2018 

109. On August 9, 2018, Tricida filed its Fonn 10-Q for the second qua1ier of 2018, 

which was signed by Defendant Klaemer. Klaemer certified in Exhibit 31.1 to the 2Q 18 10-Q, 
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pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that he had "reviewed this Quat1erly 

Report on Fom1 10-Q of Tricida, Tnc." and that "Based on my k110wlcdgc, this rcp01i docs not 

coutaiu auy wilrne stahm1eut of a material fact or ow.it lo stale a mate1ial fact uecessary to make 

the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 

misleading with respect to the period covered by this repo1t." 

110. On November 8, 2018_, Tricida filed its form 10-Q for the third quruter of 2018, 

which was signed by Defendant Klaemer. Klaemer ce1tified in Exhibit 31.1 to the 2Ql8 10-Q, 

pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarb1mcs-Oxlcy Act of 2002, that he had "reviewed this Qmutcrly 

Report 011 Form 10-Q of T1icida, luc." a11d ilia! ''Based ou my knowledge, lliis report does uol 

contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make 

I I the statements made, in light of the circlllllstances under which such statements were made. not 

misleading with respect to the period covered by this repo1t." 

111. The risk disclosures in both the 2Ql8 10-Q and 3Q18 10-Q stated, 

We recently completed a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, 
111ult;cenlerpivulal Phase 3 cli11ical lrialfur TRCJOJ, known as TRCA-301. 
The TRCA-301 trial enrolled 217 CKD patients with metabolic acidosis. 
Eligible subjects who completed the 12-week treatment period in our 
pivotal Phase 3 trial were invited to continue in our 40-week safety 
extension trial, TRCA-301E. 

*** 

Our safety extension trial, TRCA-JOJE, is being co11d11cted at 29 sites in the 
U11itP.d Staf P.s and Europe. 

112. For the reasons stated in 119:5-98, the statements identified in italics above were 

materially false and misleading and omitted material iuformaliou, and Defondauls knew or 

recklessly disregarded the truth in making these statements. 

it was misleading for Defcnd1mts to omit to rcvca 1 to 

iuvestors that the vast majo1ily of the patieuls came frow Eastern Ewope. 

113. Tricida also demonstrated its knowledge of the falsity and materiality of these 

statements through the included risk diselosnrcs. The 10-Qs cautioned that "the FDA may 

deleilllllle lhal cliuical trial results ol>laiued iu foreign sul,jecls du uol 1eprese11l the safoty and 
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efficacy of a product when administered in U.S. patients and are thus not supportive of an NDA 

approval in the United States." Similarly, the 10-Qs warned, 

i\lthough the FDA may accept data from clinical trials conducted outside 
the United States in suppo11 of safety and efficacy claims for TRCl0L this 
is snhjcct to cct1ain conditions. For example, such foreign clinical trials 
should be conducted in accordance with GCPs_, including review and 
approval by an independent ethics committee and obtaining the informed 
consent from subjects of the clinical trials. Theforeig11 clinical data should 
also be applicable to the U.S. pop11latfo11 and U.S. medical practice. Other 
fnr:rors that 111ny affect the ar:r:PJJ1m1r:e of foreign diniral darn include 
differences in cli11kcil co11dirio11s, study populations or regulato1J1 
req11i1·eine11ts between the Unite.d States and tlteJo,.-eign counhJ1. 

We conducled //Je TRCA-301 lrial and are co11d11cling the TRCA-301E trial 
with majority e11roll111ent outside the United States and may, in the future, 
r.onrluct di11ir.nl trials nf ow· pmdur:t r:m1didates outsirle the United Stares. 
lhe FDA 111c~J' not accept such foreign clinical data, and in such event, we 
may be required to re-conduct the relevant clinical trials within the United 
States, which would be costly and time-consuming, and which could have 
a material and adverse effect on om-ability to cany out our business plans. 

for the reasons stated in ilil95-98, these italicized statements were too generalized to achially 

disclaim the specific risk inherent in relying upon a study with majority enrollment of Eastern 

Europeau patients who are. uulikely lo lie represeulalive or the U.S. patient population and U.S. 

medical care, and were materially misleading. As stated above, Tricida and Klaemer knew the 

risks of using clinical data from a patient population outside the United States because -

• Additionally, the extension trial, TRCA-301.E, was even less representative of the U.S. 

population than the 12-week TRCA-301. 

M11teri11Uy F:dse 11ml Misleuding Statements and Omissions 
Concerning the Full Year 2018 and the Second Public Offering 

114. On March 28, 2019, Tricida held an earnings call. Klae111errepo11ed on the call that 

Tricida harl the results of the TRCA-301R extension trial, and that the combined results of the 
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TRCA-301/TRCA-301E trial "far exceeded our expectations." Not only did the extension trial 

"me[ c ]t its primary and all secondary endpoints," but "we have observed evidence of clinie11.l 

ueueiil iu TRClO 1-lrealed subjects, im:ludiug reduced all-cause ruorlalil.y, slowiug of CKD 

progression and improved physical :function." Klaemer stated: "we feel good about what we've 

learned in the 301E study regarding safety and efficacy. increasing our confidence for a successful 

V ALOR-CKD trial." 

115. The statements Klaerner made on the March 28, 2019 eamings call identified above 

were false ancl rnislca<ling, an<l omitted to disclose matcriiil infonrnition necessary to make them 

uol misleadiug. As explained above iu 11199, 100, 

116. On March 29, 2019, Tricida filed its Fonn 10-K for the full year 2018, which was 

signed by Defendant Klaerner. Klaerner certified in Exhibit 31.1 to the 2018 10-K, pmsuant to 

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that he had "reviewed this Annual Repo1t on Fo1m 

10-K of Tricida, Inc." and that "Based on my knowlc<lge, this rcp01i <locs not contain 1my nntmc 

slalerneul of a material fact or omit lo stale a material fact uecessary (o make lhe slalemenls made, 

iu light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect 

to the period covered by this report." 

117. On April 3, 2019, Tricida filed a .Form S-lM.E.F and related Rule 424(b)(4) 

Prospectus in connection with the Company's secondary offering, both of which were signed by 

Defendant Klacmcr (the "2019 Prospcctm,"). 

118. Tue "Busiuess" section of Ute 2018 10-K and 2019 Prospectus staled, "lu May 

2018, we completed om pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial, TRCA-301, and in March 2019, the results 

of this trial were published in The Lancet.. .. We conducted tlle trial at 47 sites in tlte United States 

and Hurope, of which 37 sites enrolled patients." The risk disclosures in the 2018 10-K and April 

2019 Prospectus stated, "In May 2018, we completed our m-11ltice11ter, randomized, double-blind, 

placebo-controlled, ptvornl Phase 3 cli11ir.nl Trial for TRCI0I, known as TRC:A-301.. .. Our 

extension trial, TRCA-30JE, was conducted at 37 sites i11 the United States and Europe." 
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119. For the reasons stated in 1195-98, the statements identified in italics above were 

materially false and misleading and omitted material infom1ation, and Defendants lrncw or 

recklessly disreganled the frnlh in making these slalerneuis. 

, it was misleading for Defendants to omit to reveal to 

investors that the vast majority of the patients came from Eastern Europe. 

120. Tricida also demonstrated its knowledge of the falsity and materiality of these 

statements through the included risk disclosures. The 2018 10-K and 2019 Prospectus cautioned 

that "the FDA may dctc1minc that clinical trial results ohtaincd in foreign subjects do not represent 

llie safely and efficacy of a product when administered in U.S. palieuls aud are llius nol supportive 

of an NDA approval in the United States." Similarly, the 10-K and 2019 Prospectus warned, 

Although the FDA may accept data from clinical trials conducted outside 
the United Stales in support of safety and eilicacy clairus for TR Cl 01. llris 
is subject to ce11ain conditions. For example, such foreign clinical trials 
should be conducted in accordance with GCPs, including review and 
approval by an independent ethics committee and obtaining the informed 
consent from subjects of the clinical trials. n,efore;g,, clinical dara should 
also be applicable Iv the U.S. population and U.S. medical practice. Other 
factors that may a_ffect the acceptance of foreign clinical data i11c/11de 
differences in clinical conditions, study populations or reg11lato1y 
requirements between the United Stales a11d tltefvreign country. 

We conducted the TRCA-301 trial, the e.xtension flial, TRCA-30JE, and the 
V ALOR-CKD hial with majvri(v enrollment 011/side the United States and 
,nay, i11 the future, conduct clinical trials of our product candidates outside 
the U11ited States_ n,e FDA may ,,ot accept such foreig11 clinical dmn, and 
in such event, we may be required to re-conduct the relevant clinical trials 
within the United States, which would be costly and time-consuming, and 
wlrich could have a rnale1ial aml adverse effect on mu-ability lo cany oLd 
our business plans. 

For the reasons stated in 1195-98, these italicized statements were too generalized to actually 

disclaim the specific risk inherent in relying npon a sh1dy with majority enrollment of Eastern 

European patients who are unlikely lo be representative of U1e U.S. patient population and U.S. 

medical care, and Defendants omitted material facts necessaiy to keep them from being 

misleading. 

121. The 2018 10-K also slated: 
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Jn lvfay 2018, we completed our randomized, double-blind, pfacebo­
controlled, pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial, TRCA-301, in 217 CKD patients 
with metabolic acidosis, and in March 2019, the results of this hial were 
published in The Lancet. 111e TRCA-301 trial met bot/, its primary and 
secondary endpoints i11 a highly statistical~v sig11ifica11t 111m111er (p<0. 0001 
for both the primary and secondary endpoints). TRClOl w.11:1 well tolerated 
in otu· TRCA-30 l tJ:ial. One htmdred ninety-six of the 208 eligible subjects 
who completed the 12-wcck treatment pc1iod in onrpivotal TRCA-301 trial 
agreed lo continue into our /40-week blinded exleusion trial, TRCA-301E. 

122. For the reasons staled in 1199, 100, the slalernenls ilaliciz.ed above were false aud 

misleading, or omitted to disclose mate11al facts necessary to keep them from being misleading. It 

was misleading to charnctc1izc TRCA-301 11s having "met both its primary 11ncl scconda1y 

eudpoinls in a highly statistically siguilicaul manner" without disclosing lhal 

123. The 2019 Prospectus staled: 

ln May 2018, we completed our randomized, double-blind, placebo­
controlled, pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial, TRC A-301, in 217 CKD µatients 
with metabolic acidosis, aud in March 2019, the resulls of this t.J.ial were 
published in The Lancet. The TRCA-301 trial met both its primary amt 
secn11dary e11dpni11ts ;,, a ltighly statistically sigr,ijica111111a1111er (p<0.0001 
for both the primary and secondary e11dpoi11ts). 1RC101 was well 
tolerated in our TRCA-301 trial. One hundred ninety-six of the 208 eligible 
subjecb; who corupleled the 12-week lreatmenl period in our pivotal TRCA-
30 l hial agreed to continue iuto our 40-week blinded extension trial, 
TRCA-101E. 

/11 Murch 2019, we completed our TRCA-301E trial. Based on the i11itial 
toplitte data a11alyses, the IRCA-301E trial met its primary a11d all 
secondary e11dpvi11ls. We beliei•e these resulls provide evidence of lo11g­
ten11 safety a11d tolerability of TRCJ OJ a11d durability of blood bicarbo11ate 
effecL TI1c placebo-adjusted improvements in favor of TRC:101-trcatcd 
subjects in the two measmes of physical function at Week 52 approximately 
doubled compared to the results at Week 12 observed iu the parent trial, 
TRCA-301. We believe the results frolll these lwo assessments provide 
consistent evidence of a clinically meaningful improvement in physical 
function and related aspects of quality of life for TRC 10 I -treated subjects. 
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The statistical analysis plan for the TRCA-301E trial also specified a 
comparison of the TRC 101 and placebo groups for the time to the composite 
cli11ical endpoint of death (all-cause 11101tality), dialysis/kidney transplant 
(renal replac,ement thernpy) or a ~50% decline in estimated glomerular 
filtration rate (eGFR), taken together DD50. OveJ· the combined (TRCA-
301 aml TRCA-301E lrials) 52-week lTealmeut period, DD50 was 
prolonged in the TRC 101 group compared to the placebo group, with an 
annualized DD.50 incidence rate, cAlculatcd as I 00 times the munbcr of 
events divided by the total person-years, of 4.2% in the TRC101 group vs 
12.0% in the placebo group (p = 0.0224). 

For the reasons stated in 1199, 100, the statements italicized above were false and misleading, or 

omitted to disclose material facts ncccssa1y to keep them from hcing misleading. Tt was misleading 

to state that "we believe these results provide evidence of long-term safety and tolerability of 

TRClOl and durability of blood bicarbonate effect" without disclosing that 

l\ilaterially False and Misleading Statements and Omissions 
Concerning First Quarter of 2019 

124. On May 10, 2019, Tricida filed its Foan 10-Q for the first qumter of 2019, which 

was signed by Defendant Klaeruer. Klaeruer certified in Exhibit 31.1 to the 1 Q 19 10-Q, pursuant 

to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that he had "reviewed this Quarterly Report on 

Funn 10-Q of Tri<.:ida, lnc." and that "Based on my kuuwledge, this report does uul cuutain any 

,mtme statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessa1y to make the statements 

made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with 

respect to the period covered by this repott." 

125. The 1Ql9 IOQ stated, 

In May 2018, we e,ompleted our randomized, double-blind, placebo 
controlled, pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial, TRCA-301, in 217 CKD patients 
with metabolic acidosis. '111e 1'.R.CA-301 t,-;cTI met both its pri111arv and 
seco11dmJ1 e11dpoints i11 a /Jighlv statistically significant ma1111er (p < 0.0001 
for both the primary and secondary endpoints). One /11111dred niue(v-six of 
the 208 subjects who completed the 12-week treatment period in 011rpivotal 
Plwse 3 Tl"inl, TRCA-301, ngreed and were eligihle ro r.ominue in m1,­
e.xtension trial, TRCA-301E, which we completed in March 2019. 
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1 126. For the reasons stated in 99, 100, the statements identified in italics above were 

2 false and misleading, or omitted to disclose material facts necessaiy to keep them from being 

3 misleading. As stated above, it was misleading to chai·acterize TRCA-301 as having "met both its 

4 primary and secondary endpoints in a highly statistically significant manner" without disclosing 
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9 127. It was also misleading to tout that 196 out of 208 subjects who completed the 12-

10 week TRCA-301 trial continued on to the 40-week TRCA-301E extension when 
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128. The risk disclosures in the IQ19 10-Q stated, 

In May 2018, we completed our multicenter, randomized, double-blind, 
placebo-contrnlled, pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial for veverimer, known as 
TRCA-301. 

* * * 
Our 40-week extension trial, TRCA-301E, was conducted at 37 sites in the 
United States and Europe. 

129. For the reasons stated in 95-98, the statements identified in italics above were 

false and misleading, omitted material infonnation, and Defendants knew or recklessly disregarded 

the tmth in ma.king these statements. 

130. Tricida also demonstrated its knowledge of the falsity and materiality of these 

statements through the included risk disclosures. The 1Q19 10-Q cautioned that "the FDA may 

dete1mine that clinical trial results obtained in foreign subjects do not represent the safety and 

efficacy of a prnduct when administered in U.S. patients and ai-e thus not supportive of an NDA 

approval in the United States." Similarly, the 10-Q warned, 

Although the FDA may accept data from clinical trials conducted outside 
the United States in supp011 of safety and efficacy claims for TRC101, this 
is subject to ce11ain conditions. For example, such foreign clinical trials 
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should be conducted in accordance with GCPs, including review and 
approval by an independent ethics committee and obtaining the informed 
consent from subjects of the clinical trials. The foreign cli11;cnl dntn should 
also be applicable to the U.S. populatio11 and U.S. medical practice~ Other 
factors that may affect the accepumce of .foreig11 clinical data i11c/ude 
differences in clinical cundilio11s, sluc(v pupnla!ions ur regulatory 
require111e11ts bet,.veef/ the United States and the foreign country. 

We co11ducted rhe TRCA-301 trial, rhe e.xrens;o11 trial, TRCA-30! F,, rrnd the 
/IALUR-C'KD trial wit!, 111ajori~y e11rollment outside the United States af/d 
may, in the fiiTure, conduct clinical flials of ow· product candidates outside 
the U11ited States. The FDA may not accep1 such foreign c/;nica/ data, and 
in such event, we may be required to re-conduct the relevant clinical trials 
within the United States, which would he costly and timc-consnming, 1md 
which could have a mate1ial and adverse effect on our ability to cany out 
our business plans. 

For the 1·easons stated in 1[1[95-98, these italicjzed statements were too ~eneralizecl to actually 

disclaim the specific risk inherent in relying upon a study with majority enrollment of Eastern 

.Ew·opean patients 

, and Defendants omitted material facts necessary to keep them 

from being mislc11ding. 

Matetially ll'alse and Misleading Statements and Omissions at the Goldman Sachs Global 
Healthcare Conference 

13 L On June 12, 2019, Defendant Klaerner spoke at the Goldman Sachs Global 

Healthcare Coulerence: 

Graig Suvauuavejh Goldman Sachs Group fuc., Research Division -
Executive Director & Senior Equity Research Analyst: 

I think it's fascinating. So veverimer is your lead program. i\nd it's - how 
would you describe what's unique about that? And maybe that transition to 
kind of the clinical data that you've generated for that program? 

Genit Klaeruer Tricida, Inc. - Fmrude,r, President, CEO & Exec.ulive 
Director: 

Yes. Let's start with the most rec.ent news, which, in my career, I've never 
experienced. We set out to do a I-year extension study, where we hope to 
sec good s11fcty, which we did. We hoped to sec continued rlnrnblc effect of 
our sunogate marker, which is basically the increase of sen1111 bicarlmnale. 
And on top of it, in this blinded placebo-controlled study, we actually saw 
a reduced all-cause mortality, reduced number of patients requiring dialysis 
and fewer patients having -- losing 50% of the kidney fonction. 

SbCONV 1\M!;NOill COM1'LA1NT 
PERMISSION TO FILE GRJ\NTED DEC. 9, 2022 - ECF No. 112 
4:21-cv-00076-HSG 

47 

Case 23-10024-JTD    Doc 590-3    Filed 08/11/23    Page 57 of 87



Case 4:21-cv-00076-HSG   Document 115   Filed 12/15/22   Page 48 of 77

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

And when you fast-fmward in all the work that we've done, from a 
discove1y to an early development, to a late stage development, agreeing 
with FDA, an accelerated approval path, you -- all you e.xpect to do is to 
show a surrogate effect, and then you have a post-marketing commitment 
that ultimately then, you confirm that, that surrogate is going to translate. 

Now we found ourselves with I-year safety extension data that showed 
clinical benefit. And I think that excitement, you can feel now, I think, in 
the company, both from internct.ing with payers, interacting with physicians, 
interacting with regulators, I think that is a good thing to have. 

132. For the reasons stated in 99, 100, the statements identified in italics above were 

8 false and misleading, or omitted to disclose material information necessa1y to prevent them from 

9 being misleading. Klaeruer knew these statements to be false and misleading or was reckless is his 

1 o disregard for the tmth when he made them. 

11 133. Additionally, Klaemer materially misrepresented that Tricida had reached 

12 agreement with the FDA regarding TRCA-301 'sand TRCA-301E's endpoints. 
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Materially False and Misleading Statements and Omissions 
Concerning the Second Quarter of 2019 

134. On August 9, 2019, Tricida filed its Fann 10-Q for the second quarter of 2019, 

which was signed by Defendant Klaemer. 

135. Klaemer ce1iified in Exhibit 31.1 to the 2Q 19 10-Q, ptu-suant to Section 302 of the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that he had "reviewed this Qua1ierly Report on Fonn 10-Q ofTricida, 

Inc." and that "Based on my knowledge, this repmt does not contain any untn1e statement of a 

material fact or om.it to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the 
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circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 

covered hy this rcp011." 

136. Tue August 9, 2019 10-Q slated: 

1n May 2018, we completed our randomized, double-blind, placebo 
controlled, pivotnl Phnsc 3 clinicnl trial, TRCA-301, in 217 CKD patients 
with metabolic acidosis. The TRCA-301 trial met buth its primary and 
secondmy endpoints in a highly statistically significant 11101111e,• (p < 0.0001 
for both the primary and secoudruy endpoints). 011e hundred ninety-six of 
the 208 subjects who completed the 12-week treatment period in our l'RCA-
30 l trial agreed m1rl were eligihle ta r.011ti1111e in our 40-week exte11si011 
/rial, TRCA-301E, which we <:umpleled in Mardi 2019. The TRCA-301E 
trial met its primary and all secondary endpoints. 

137. ifor the reasons stated in iJi\99, 100, the statements identified in italics above were 

11 false and mislcnding nnd omitted to disclose matc,ial facts ncccssmy to keep them from being. 

rnislea<lrng. It was mislea<liug lo cliaraclerize TRCA-301 as haviug "rnel both ils pri.w.aiy arnl 

secondary endpoiuts in a highly statistically significant manner" without disclosing that-

138. As staled above iu ,r,Jl27, il was also ulislea<lrng lo loul lhal 196 out of208 subjecli:; 

who completed the 12-week TRCA-301 trial continued on to the 40-weekTRCA-301E extension, 

139. T11c risk discloslU'cs in the 2Q 19 10-Q stated, "Tn Mny 2018, we completed our 

rmt!tiwnter, rnmlomized, double-l>liu<l, pla<.:ebo-coulrnlled, pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial for 

veverimer, kuovm as TRCA-301 .... Ow-40-week extension trial, TRCA-30 IE, was conducted at 

3 7 shes i11 the United Stares n11d Eumpe.'' 

1 '10. The slaleweuls ideulified iu italics above were false au<l rnisleadiug, aucl omilled 

rnaterial info1mation. In addition to the reasons explained above in m\95-98, 
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II 

14L Tricida also demonstrated its knowled1;e of the falsity and mate1·iality of these 

statements through the inc.luded risk disclosures. The 2Q19 10-Q cautioned that "the FDA may 

determine that clinical trial results obtained in foreign subjects do uot represent the safety and 

efficacy of a product when administered in U.S. patients and are thus not supp011ive of an NDA 

approval in the United States." Similarly, the 10-Q wamcd, 

Although the FDA may accept data from clinical trials conducted outside 
the United States in suppo11 of safety and efficacy claims for TR Cl O l, this 
is subject to certain conditions. For example, such foreign clinical trials 
should be conducted in accordance with GCPs, including review and 
approval by an independent ethics committee and obtaining the infonned 
consent from subjects of the clinical trials. The foreign cli11ical data should 
also be applicable to the U.S. pop11lalio11 and U.S. medical practice. Other 
factors that may nffer.t the ar.r.eprm1r.e of foreign dinirnl data h1rl11de 
differences in clinical conditions, study populations or regulatory 
req11ireJ11e/lfs between rhe U11ited States a11d the.fo1'eig11 co1111hy. 

We conducted the TRCA-301 trial, the exte11sio11 trial, TRCA-301 E, and the 
VALOR-CKD trial with majority e11rol/111e11t outside the United States and 
may, in 1hefi.1rure, condur.t cli11ir.al hinl.~ of our prod11r.r candidates owside 
the U11Ued States. 'J'he FDA may not accepr such foreign clinical data_, anti 
in such event, we may be required to re-conduct the relevant clinical trials 
within the United States, which would be c-ostly and time-consuming, and 
which could have a material and adverse effect on om ability to cany out 
our bmiincss plans. 

For the reasons statcrl rn iJiJ9.5-98, 140, tl1csc italicized statements were too generalized to actually 

disclaim lhe specific risk inherent iu Telyiug upuu a slu<ly with ruajurily eurolhuenl uf Eastern 

, 11nrl Defendants omitted material facts necessary to keep tJ1cm 

frum beiug utislea<liug. 
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Materially False and Misleading Statements and Omissions  
Concerning the Third Quarter of 2019 

142. On November 14, 2019, Tricida filed its Form 10-Q for the third quarter of 2019, 

which was signed by Defendant Klaerner. 

143. Klaerner certified in Exhibit 31.1 to the 3Q19 10-Q, pursuant to Section 302 of the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that he had “reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Tricida, 

Inc.” and that “Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a 

material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the 

circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 

covered by this report.” 

144. The November 14, 2019 10-Q stated: 

In May 2018, we completed our randomized, double-blind, placebo 
controlled, pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial, TRCA-301, in 217 CKD patients 
with metabolic acidosis. The TRCA-301 trial met both its primary and 
secondary endpoints in a highly statistically significant manner (p < 0.0001 
for both the primary and secondary endpoints). One hundred ninety-six of 
the 208 subjects who completed the 12-week treatment period in our TRCA-
301 trial agreed and were eligible to continue in our 40-week extension 
trial, TRCA-301E, which we completed in March 2019. The TRCA-301E 
trial met its primary and all secondary endpoints. 

145. For the reasons stated in ¶¶99, 100, 127, the statements identified in italics above 

were false and misleading, or omitted to disclose material facts necessary to keep them from being 

misleading. 

146. The risk disclosures in the 3Q19 10-Q stated,  

In May 2018, we completed our multicenter, randomized, double-blind, 
placebo-controlled, pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial for veverimer, known as 
TRCA-301. 
* * * 
Our TRCA-301 trial was conducted at 37 sites and our 40-week extension 
trial, TRCA-301E, was conducted at 29 sites in the United States and 
Europe. 

147. For the reasons stated in ¶¶95-98, 140, the statements identified in italics above 

were false and misleading, or omitted to disclose material facts necessary to keep them from being 
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II 

misleading. As stated above, Tricida and Klaemer knew, or recklessly disregai·ded, that 

charnctcrizing the trials AS hcing condnctcd in "the United States and Euro11c" was false and 

148. Tricida also demonstrated its knowledge of the falsity and materiality of these 

statements through the included risk disclosures. The 3Ql9 10-Q cautioned that "the r'JJA may 

detennine that clinical trial 1·esults obtained in foreign subjects do not represent the safety and 

efficacy of a product when administered in lLS_ pllticnts and Arc thw, not supportive of an NDA 

approval in the Uuite<l Stales." Siruilarly, lhe 10-Q warned, 

Although the fJJA may accept data from clinical trials conducted outside 
t11c United Stlltcs in suppmt of safety and cffic11cy claims for TRC"l 01, this 
is subjecl lo cerlaiu cou<lilious. For example, such foreigu clinical trials 
should be couducted in accordance with GCPs, including review and 
approval by an independent ethics conunittee and obtaining the infonned 
consent from subjects of the clinic.al tri.als. 111e foreigll clinical data s'1011/d 
alw he npplir:ahle to the US. population mid U.S. 111edir:al prar:rir:e. Other 
factors Iha/ 111uy affect //,e acceptance uf jureig11 clinical data include 
dtfference.s in cli11ical conditions, study populations or reg11lat01y 
1·eq11ire111ems herween the United StatPs a11d thefm·eig11 cou11try. 

We conducted the TRCA-301 trial, the exlensio11 trial, TRCA-301 E, and the 
VAT,OR-CKD trial with 11wjori.ty enrollment 0111side the United Stares n11d 
may, ;n thefi1ture, conduct clinical trials of our product candidates outside 
the United States. TT1e FDA may not accept such fol'eig11 cli11ical data, and 
in such event, we may be required to re-conduct the relevant clinical trials 
within the United States, which would be costly and time-conswning, and 
which could have a nrntcrial and adverse effect on our ability to carry out 
our busiuess plaus. 

For the reasous slated iu iJiJ95-98, MO, lllese ilali<.:ized slaterueuts were loo geueralize<l lo actually 

disclaim the specific risk inherent in relying upon a study with majority enrolhnent of Eastern 

European pflticnts 

, aud Defoudanls oruilled material facts necessary lo keep lhem 

from being misleading. 
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II 

:Materially False and Misleading Statements and Omissions 
Concerning the Fourth Quarter and Year 2019 

149. On March 2, 2020, Tricida filed its Form 10-K for the year 2019, which was signed 

by Defeudant Klaeruer. 

150. Klaemer certified iu Exhibit 31.1 lo lhe 2019 10-K, pursuant lo Se<.:tiou 302 of lhe 

Sru·banes-Oxley Act of 2002, that he bad "reviewed this Annual Report on P01m 10-Q ofTricida, 

Inc." and that "Based on my knowledge, this repo11 does not contain any untrue statement of a 

matetial fact or omit to state a material fact necess::uy to make the statements made, in light of the 

circumstances under which such statements weJe made, not misleading with respect to tlre period 

covered by this rep01t." 

151. The "Business" section of the 10-K staled., 

We cu11ducled the f TRCA-301} trial al 17 sites i11 tl,e United Stales and 
Europe, of which 37 site.s enrolled patients. 

*** 

Based on the magnitude of the increase in serum bicarbonate observed in 
n11r pivnwl Pl,ase 3 rrinl, TRCA-301, mid rhe inverse relntinnship heflveen 
serum bicarbu11a/e and risk of renal events described by the Predictive MA 
.Model, we have detem1ined that randomizing 1,600 subjects to veverimer 
or placebo in a 1:1 ratio will result in 90% power to show a 30% to 35% 
reduction in renal events in the V ALOR-CKD trial. 

152. The risk disclosures stated, "lu May 2018, we completed our 111ulticenter, 

rnndomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial for veverimer, known 

as TRCA-301 .... 0111· TRCA-301 trial was co11ducted at 37 sffes a11d our 40-week extension trial, 

TRC.4-J0JH, was conducted at 29 sites in the U11ited States and Europe." 

153. In addition to the reasons stated in 1195-98, 140, the statements identified in italics 

above were false and misleading, or omitted to disclose material facts necess::uy to keep them from 

being misleading. 
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154. Tricida also demonstrated its knowledge of the falsity and materiality of these 

statements through the included risk disclosures. The 2019 10-K cautioned that "the FDA may 

dete1mine that clinical trial results obtained in foreign subjects do not represent the safety and 

efficacy of a product when administered in U.S. patients and are thus not supportive of an NDA 

approval in the United States." SimilaJly, the 10-K warned, 

Although the FDA may accept data from clinical trials conducted outside 
the United States in support of safety and efficacy claims for TRClOl, this 
is subject to ce11ain conditions. For example, such foreign clinical trials 
should be conducted in accordance with GCPs, including review and 
approval by an independent ethics committee and obtaining the infonned 
consent from subjects of the clinical trials. I11eforeign clinical data should 
also be applicable to the U.S. population and U.S. medical pracUce. Other 
factors that may affect the acceptance of foreign clinical data include 
differences in clinical conditions, study populations or regulat01J1 
requirements between the United States and the foreign country. 

We conducted the TRCA-301 trial, the extension trial, TRCA-301E, and the 
VALOR-CKD trial with majority enrollment outside the United States and 
may, in the future, conduct clinical trials of our product candidates outside 
the United States. I11e FDA may not accept such foreign clinical data, and 
in such event, we may be required to re-conduct the relevant clinical trials 
within the United States, which would be costly and time-consuming, and 
which could have a material and adverse effect on our ability to cany out 
our busUiess plans. 

For the reasons stated in ,i,i9S-98, 140, 153, these italicized statements were too generalized to 

disclaim the specific risk at issue but demonstrate Defendants' knowledge of the specific risk and 

we1e actually false and misleading. 
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10 trial's results, specifically about the trial having met its primary and sec.ondary endpoints: 
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The TRCA-301 trial was a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial that 
randomized 217 patients with non-dialysis dependent CKD and metabolic 
acidosis. The trial met both its primary and secondary endpoints in a 
highly statistically significant manner (p<0.0001 for both the primary and 
secondary endpoints). Veverimer was well tolerated in our TRCA-301 trial. 
The primary endpoint of the trial measured improvements in sennn 
bicarbonate levels in veverimer-treated patients versus placebo. Senun 
bicarbonate is a srnrngate measure of metabolic acidosis and a persistent 
serum bicarbonate level below 22 mEq/L indicates metabolic acidosis. 
After 12 weeks of treatment, 59.2% of subjects in the veverimer-treated 
group, compared with 22.5% of subjects in the placebo group, had an 
increase in serum bicarbonate level of at least 4 mEq/L or achieved a 
serum bicarbonate level in the normal range of 22 to 29 mEq/L, which 
was the primary endpoint of the trial. The secondary endpoint of the trial, 
the least squares, or LS, mean changefrom baseline to week 12 in serum 
bicarbonate, was 4.42 mEq/L in the veverimer-treated group, compared 
with 1. 78 mEq/L in the placebo group. The mean change in serum 
bicarbonate from baseline to week 12 was 4. 5 mEq/L in the veverimer­
treoted group, compared with 1. 7 mEq/L in the placebo group. 

156. Tue statements identified above in italics were false and misleading because they 

misrepresented veverimer's true chances of approval based on the results of the Phase 3 trial and 

om.itted core issues with the trial's efficacy endpoints, as described above in 1199, 100, 127,_ 
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157. The 2019 10-K also stated that "We believe that the data from the TRCA-101, 

TRCA-301 and TRCA-301E clinical trials will provide sufficient clinical evidence of safety and 

efficacy to suppmi the approval of onr NDA for vcvcrimcr pmsnant to the Accclcrntccl Approval 

Prugraru." Iu a<l<liliou lo llie reasons slated iu 1199, 100, 127, lliis sla(eweul was false and 

misleading, and omitted material information, for failing to disclose the "Siimificant Issue" oftbe 

11 magnitude of the treatment effect on blood bicarbonate and the ability ofTRCi\.-303 to confirm a 

treatment benefit, as stated by the .FDA to Tricida on Januaiy 27, 2020. Neither Tricida nor 

Klaemer could reasonably have believed that the data _from the clinical trials would provide 

sufficient clinical evidence of safety and efficacy to snpp011 1111 NDA after the specific negative 

feedback they received frow the FDA al the Jaumuy 27, 2020 wi<l-cycle weeti:ug. 

Materially False and Misleadin~ Statements and Omissions 
Concerning the FiI·st Quarter of 2020 

158. Ou !vfay 7, 2020, Triuida held ils 1 Q20 earuingN call willi aualysl.s. During llie 

c-all, Klaemer stated, 

In our Day 74 letter, the FDA indicated that they plan to hold an adviso1J1 
c0111111irtee meeting m· AdCom to discuss the applicatim1- Tn ow· late-cycle 
meeting with the FJJA held in Mc~v 2020, the J,JJA indicated it current~v 
does not plan to hold a11 AdCom to discuss veverimer due in part to the 
logistic:al c;/wl/e11ges posed by COVID-19. In our late-e,yc/e meeting with 
FDA, we took the opportunity to address outstanding review issues. We 
presented our data and rationale as to why we think we ve,y much satisfied 
the requirements for initial approval under the Accelerated Approval 
Program i11cf11ding the magnitude a11d durability of the treatment effect 011 

the swTogale markup sm·u111 bicarbonate demons/rated in !he TRCA-301 
and TRCA-J0JE trials. 

Under the initial approval, we have to ensure that US patients who would 
be prescribed veverimer get clinicalfci1 significant benefit that outweighs the 
risk of treatment. Overall, while the FDA co11ti11ues its review, we remain 
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confident that our submission meets the standard for approval through the 
Accelerated Approval Program. 

15 9. The statements identified in italics above were false and misleading. Klaeruer made 

multiple false and misleading statements on the May 7, 2020 conference call by failing to disclose 

material infonnation necessa1y to render the statements hue in the context in which they were 

made. First, the reason why the FDA "indicated it cunently does not plan to hold an AdCom to 

discuss veverimer" was not due to the "logistical challenges posed by COVID-19," 

Klaemer therefore knew, or recklessly disregarded, that there would be no AdCom meeting 

because of the significant issues with Tricida 's application of Accelerated Approval. 

160. It was also inisleading for Klaemer to state that he was "confident" that Tricida's 

"submission me[t] the standard for approval through the Accelerated Approval Program" -

161. It was fm1her misleading for Klaerner to state that Tricida had satisfied the 

requirements for Accelerated Approval by demonstrating a treatment effect on SBC of sufficient 

"magnitude and durability" 
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, as stated in 1 95-98, 140, 153. Tricida 

confirmed as much in its 2Q20 10-Q, filed August 6, 2020, in which the Company disclosed, 

In our late cycle meeting with the FDA, held in May 2020, we addressed 
two substantive review issues that the FDA had raised in advance of the 
meeting, namely concerns related to the magnitude and durability of the 
treatment effect on the surrogate marker of senun bicarbonate demonstrated 
in the TRCA-301 and TRCA-301E trials and the applicability of data from 
the TRCA-301 and TRCA-301E trials to the U.S. population. 

. Given the magnitude of these issues, the Company said in the 

2Q20 10-Q that it was likely to receive a CRL. These review issues proved to be the main reasons 

for the FDA's rejection of ve.verimer, as the Company finally spelled out in a Febrnary 25, 2021, 

press release titled "Tricida Has Received an Appeal Denied Letter from the Office of New Drngs 

of the FDA in Response to its Fo1mal Dispute Resolution Request": 

In the ADL, the OND acknowledged that the TRCA-301/TRCA-301E trial 
met its senun bicarbonate endpoints with statistical significance but 
concluded that the extent of serum bicarbonate increase observed in the 
TRCA-301/TRCA-301E trial is not reasonably likely to provide a 
discernible reduction in CKD progression. The OND also concluded that 
the confnmat01y trial, V ALOR-CKD, is unde1powered to detect the effect 
size (13%) predicted by the original Tangri model (also known as the 
Predictive MA Model) based upon the placebo-subtracted mean treatment 
effect observed in the TRCA-301/TRCA-301E trial. 

The OND also provided feedback on other concerns that are pa1iicularly 
relevant in an NDA supp01ied by a single registrntional trial. The OND 
noted concerns arnund the trial results being strongly influenced by a single 
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site, and the majority of sites for the TRCA-301/fRCA-301E trial being in 
Eastern Europe, where differences in patient management including 
concomitant medic.ations and diet, might affect the treatment response to 
veverimer and raise a concern of the applicability to a U.S. patient 
population. 

163. Klaemer either knew, or recklessly disregarded, that these issues presented a 

significant obstacle to the approval of veverimer 

166. Klaemer's false statements were material because they concealed the trne risk that 

the FDA would reject the veverimer NDA. 
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167. On May 8, 2020, Tricida filed its Fonn 10-Q for the fu·st quarter of 2020, which 

wac; signed hy Dcfenrlant Klacmcr_ 

168. Klaemer certified in Exhibit 31.1 lo Ille IQ20 10-Q, pwsuau( lu Secliou 302 of fue 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that he had "reviewed this Quarterly Rep01t on Form 10-Q ofTricida, 

Inc." and that "Based on my knowledge, this repo1i does not contain any untrue statement of a 

material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the 

circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 

covcrcrl hy this rcpott." 

169. Tue risk <lisclosmt1s secliuu slated, '1u May 2018, we cu111pleted uur multicenler, 

randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial for veverimer, known 

11 as TRCi\-301 .... Our TRCA-301 trial was conducted at 37 sites and our 40-week extension trial, 

'JRG:4-J0JH, was conducted at 29 sites in the United States and Hurope." 

170. For the reasons stated in 1!'1[95-98, 140, 153, 165, the statements identified in italics 

Ahovc were false and misleading, or omincd to disclose material facts ncccssmy to keep them from 

being mislt1a<ling. As slale<l above, Trici<la au<l Klaemer kuew, ur recklessly <lisregar<le<l, Iha! 

charncterizing the trials as being conducted in "the United States and Etll'ope'' was misleading 

171. Tricida also demonstrated its knowledge of the falsity and materiality of these 

stRtcmcnts through the included risk disclosures. The 1 Q20 I 0-Q cautioncrl tlrnt "the FDA may 

<lt1lermiue ilia( cliuical 11ial resulls oblaiue<l iu foreigu subjecls <lo uol represeul the safely aud 

efficacy of a product when administered in U_S_ patients and are thus not supportive of an NDA 

approval in the United States." Similarly, the 10-Q warned, 

Although the FDA may accept data from clinical trials conducted outside 
the United States in suppo1t of safety and efficacy claims for TRC!0l, this 
is snhjcct to certain conrlitions. For example, such foreign clinical ttials 
should be conducted in accordance with GC.Ps, including review and 
approval by an independent ethics committee and obtaining the informed 
couseul from subjects of lhe clinical trials. Tl1efureig11 clinical data should 
also be applicable to the U.S. populatio11 a11d U.S. medical practice. Other 
factors thm may affect the acaptallce nf fnreig11 dinicnl data include 
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differences in clinical condnions, study populations or regulat01y 
requirements between the United States and the foreign country. 

We conducted the TRCA-301 trial, the extension trial, TRCA-301E, and the 
VALOR-CKD trial with majority enrollment outside the United States and 
may, in the future, conduct clinical trials of our product candidates outside 
the United States. I71e FDA may not accept such foreign clinical data, and 
in such event, we may be required to re-conduct the relevant clinical trials 
within the United States, which would be costly and time-consuming, and 
which could have a material and adverse effect on our ability to cany out 
mu-business plans. 

For the reasons stated in ,r 95-98, 140, 153, 165 these italicized statements were too generalized 

to disclaim the specific risk at issue but demonstrate Defendants' knowledge of the specific risk 

and were actually false and misleading. While the risk factors above characterized the risk of the 

FDA not accepting foreign data as a hypothetical (e.g., "the FDA may not accept such foreign 

clinical data"1 

. Stating that differences in clinical conditions and 

study populations "may" affect the acceptance of the fOJeign data was likewise misleading-

Materially False and Misleading Statements and Omissions 
Concerning Second Quarter 2020 

172. On Augnst 5, 2020, after Tricida first disclosed limited infonnation that the FDA 

had identified deficiencies with its NDA, Tricida held an earnings call earnings call to discuss its 

second qmuier 2020 financial results. On the earnings call, an analyst asked Klaeruer to "remind 

us of the process that you went th.rough to get the FDA to sign off on the design of the pivotal 

study and in pa11icular, the sennn bicru·bonate prima1y endpoint. Was there any disagreement 

between you and the FDA in the design? Or are you both on the same page?" K.laemer offered a 

carefully worded response, stating the Company had reached agreement with the FDA (1) "that 

we are treating a serious disease, that there is an umnet medical need and that we have a 
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1 surrogate that's likely going to translate to clinical benefit," and (2) on "a quantitative 

2 understanding ... of how the sunogate Jeally impacts ... the progression of kidney disease." 

3 Based on those agreements, said Klaemer, Tiicida designed the TRCA-301/TRCA-301E and 

4 VALOR-CKD trials. 

5 173. Klaemer's response to the analyst's question was materially false and misleading 

6 for the reasons stated in fl 99, 100,127 157. 
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"quantitative understanding ... of 

how the sunogate Jeally impacts the progression of kidney disease." 

THE TRUTH BEGINS TO EMERGE 

17 4. On July 15, 2020, after the close of trading, Tricida issued a piess release Jevealing 

that the FDA notified Tricida on July 14, 2020 that the Agency had "identified deficiencies that 

pieclude discussion of labeling and postmarketing requirements/commitments at this time." 

Tric.ida said the notification did not "specify the deficiencies identified by the FDA," but "[t]he 

Company plans to work with the FDA to identify and seek to resolve the deficiencies." Klaemer 

was quoted in the press release, stating "We are srnprised and disappointed by this news .... We 

continue to believe in the potential of veverimer to oe disease modifying and our goal is to work 

with FDA to identify and resolve the issues in order to bring veverimer to patients." 

175. In response to this news, the price of Tricida common stock fell $10.56 per share 

to close at $15.64 per shaJe on July 16, 2020. 

176. The July 15, 2020, press release puolicly revealed for the first time that there were 

issues with the veverimer NDA, but Defendants still withheld material infonnation from the 

investing public. Tricida and Klaemer were well awaJe ofthe deficiencies referenced oy the FDA, 

i.e., that the majority of trial sites were in Eastern Europe and one site in pa1iicular was 

disprop011ionately responsible for the trial's emollment, 

Defendants had just met with the FDA in 

May 2020 for a late-cycle review, during which the FDA specifically raised concerns about the 

ability of the surrogate endpoint for the TRCA-301/TRCA-301E trial to demonstrnte likely clinical 
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effect as well as the comparability of the trial subjects to the U.S. patient population and U.S. 

medical practice. Moreover, these had been long-standing points of discussion with the FDA 

throughout the clinical trials.  And Defendants also knew that an NDA supported by a phase 3 

program consisting of only a single pivotal trial, such as the veverimer NDA, would receive 

heightened scrutiny from the FDA. The press release indicated that the NDA would not be 

approved by the PDUFA date, but the details would have made clear that the NDA was nowhere 

near approval—i.e., it could not be salvaged by a short-term fix. The failure to mention these facts 

withheld key pieces of the whole truth. 

177. On August 24, 2020, at 8:30 am, prior to the opening of trading, Tricida issued a 

press release announcing that it [had] received a Complete Response Letter (“CRL”) from the FDA 

for its veverimer NDA on August 21, 2020: 

According to the CRL, the FDA is seeking additional data beyond the 
TRCA-301 and TRCA-301E trials regarding the magnitude and durability 
of the treatment effect of veverimer on the surrogate marker of serum 
bicarbonate and the applicability of the treatment effect to the U.S. 
population. FDA also expressed concern as to whether the demonstrated 
effect size would be reasonably likely to predict clinical benefit. There were 
no safety, clinical pharmacology/biopharmaceutics, CMC or non-clinical 
issues identified in the CRL. 
The CRL provided multiple options for resolving the identified deficiencies. 
In order to obtain approval for veverimer the company may or may not have 
to conduct an additional clinical trial. The FDA indicated it is willing to 
meet with Tricida to discuss options for obtaining approval, including under 
the Accelerated Approval Program. 
“We have collaborated with the FDA on the Accelerated Approval Program 
for veverimer and while we are disappointed to receive this CRL, we are 
pleased that the FDA has provided helpful, specific comments and indicated 
their willingness to continue to work with us to pursue approval of 
veverimer,” said Gerrit Klaerner, Ph.D., Tricida’s Chief Executive Officer 
and President. “We remain confident in the fundamentals of, and unmet 
medical need for, veverimer and we continue to conduct our confirmatory 
trial, VALOR-CKD.” Tricida plans to request a Type A meeting with the 
FDA in the coming weeks. A Type A meeting is usually scheduled within 
30 days of the meeting request. Following the Type A meeting, anticipated 
early in the fourth quarter, Tricida plans to provide an update on next steps 
and estimated timing of a potential resubmission of the NDA. 
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1 178. Tricida's stock price fell by $3.13 per share, or 24% on this news, falling from its 

2 prim closing price of $13 .24 per share to close at $10.11 per shru.-e on August 24, 2020. 

3 179. The August 24, 2020, press release revealed for the first time the FDA's position 

4 that the Phase 3 TRCA-301/TRCA-301E trial was inadequate on its own to demonstrate the 

5 efficacy of veverimer. It also revealed that the FDA required additional data regarding the 

6 applicability of the observed treatment effect to the U.S. population. However, the press release 

7 went to great lengths to temper the tme nature of these issues by suggesting that there were no 

8 severe obstacles to near-term approval and emphasizing (1) the "multiple options for resolving the 

9 identified deficiencies," (2) Klaeruer's pleasme about the FD A's feedback, and (3) the Company's 

10 confidence in the "fundamentals" ofveverimer, such that the VALOR-CKD trial was continuing 

11 unchanged. The press release failed to mention the numerous issues specific to having relied upon 

12 a single pivotal Phase 3 trial and othe1wise hid the severity of the issues that it did share. 

13 180. On October 29, 2020, Tricida announced that during an End-of-Review Type A 

14 conference held October 20, 2020, with the FDA's Division of Cardiology and Nephrology-

15 which had issued the CRL on August 21, 2020, denying Tricida's veverimer NDA-the FDA told 

16 Tricida that it was "unlikely to rely solely on sernm bicarbonate data for detennination of efficacy" 

17 and would therefore "require evidence of veverimer's effect on CKD progression from a near-teru1 

18 inte1i.m analysis of the V ALOR-CKD trial for approval under the Accelerated Approval Program." 

19 But because Tricida could not provide this interim information from the V ALOR-CKD trial 

10 'without compromising the integrity of the ongoing trial," additional trials would be required to 

21 gather this infonnation. In other wonis, the FDA rejected the veverimer NDA because Tricida had 

22 failed to demonstrate that the single phase 3 trial's surrogate endpoint could reasonably predict 

23 clinical efficacy. Tricida suggested that this was the first time the FDA had called into question 

24 Tricida's use of senun bicarbonate to measure efficacy, noting that the Company's discussions 

25 with the FDA over nearly fotu yearn "focused on development of veverimer based solely on the 

26 use of senun bicarbonate as the smTogate endpoint to enable accelerated approval, with CKD 

27 progression data to be provided only at the completion of the VALOR-CKD trial." 

18 
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1 - Tue same press Jelease disclosed that Tricida was "significantly reducing its headcount from 

2 152 to 59 people and will discuss its commibnents with vendors and contract se1vice providers to 

3 potentially provide additional financial flexibility." 

4 181. In response to this news, Tricida's stock price fell $3.90 peI share, to close at $4.37 

5 per share on October 29, 2020. 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

10 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

18 

182. Tue OctobeJ 29, 2020, press release revealed for the fust time that Tricida would 

have to provide clinical evidence of CKD progression (instead of just chemical evidence of senun 

bicarbonate levels), and that that evidence would have to come from the V ALOR-CKD trial or 

some otheJ yet-to-be designed tJial. However, acquiring that evidence from the VALOR-CKD trial 

would eliminate its ability to function as a confinnatory posbnarketing trial for pmposes of the 

accelerated approval process. The press release still said nothing about either the numerous issues 

specific to having relied upon a single pivotal Phase 3 trial 

Although the announced reduction in headcmmt suggested 

that near-term commercialization of veverimer was not likely, the press release emphasized that 

there was still a path fmward because the company "plans to wait for fonnal meeting minutes from 

the FDA related to the End-of-Review Type A meeting prior to detennining how to proceed with 

obtaining regulatory approval for veverimer." 

183. On December 8, 2020, sixteen minutes before trading closed for the day, Tricida 

announced that it had revised the protocol for the VALOR-CKD trial to replace an "adaptive 

design" and "interim analysis for sample size adjustment" with "a group sequential design" and 

"an unblinded interim analysis for early stopping for efficacy." Tricida had scrapped plans 

providing any semblance of near-tenn approval prospects for veverimer. Tue press release also 

provided an update on the regulat01y status of the veverimer NDA: 

A Formal Dispute Resolution Request (FDRR) has been submitted to the 
FDA to seek claii.ty on the path forward for resubmitting otu-New Dmg 
Application (NDA) through the Accelerated Approval Program. Tue FDRR 
requests that the Office of New Drngs (OND) find that the magnitude of 
sernm bicaibonate change seen in the TRCA-301 and TRCA-301E trials is 
reasonably likely to predict clinical benefit in the treabnent of metabolic 
acidosis associated with CKD and that it can therefore serve as the basis for 
accelerated approval. If accepted for consideration, a decision on the FDRR 
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is expected in the first quarter of 2021. The timing and next steps for a 
resubmission of the NDA for veverimer will be dependent upon the OND’s 
decision. 
“We believe that we are studying the right patient population and the right 
CKD progression endpoint in VALOR-CKD. Hence, we believe that an 
adaptive design is no longer necessary and have locked in the sample size 
at 1,600 subjects and built in two opportunities for stopping early for 
efficacy over the next 18 to 24 months, in the event that the effect of 
veverimer on slowing CKD progression is greater than currently modeled,” 
said Gerrit Klaerner, Ph.D., Tricida’s Chief Executive Officer and 
President. “And while we are disappointed that we could not come to a 
resolution with the Division of Cardiology and Nephrology on the 
resubmission of our NDA during our Type A meeting, we believe that the 
focused, single issue FDRR currently represents the best approach to bring 
veverimer to patients through accelerated approval.” 

184. The press release, like earlier press releases, focused on one issue with the NDA: 

the surrogate endpoint’s ability to predict clinical benefit. This time, the press release presented a 

new way—the FDRR—for the FDA to approve the NDA. Importantly, the press release still said 

nothing about either the numerous issues specific to having relied upon a single pivotal Phase 3 

trial. Tricida’s stock price fell from its closing price of $8.12 per share on December 8, 2020, to 

close at $6.68 per share on December 9, 2020, an almost 18% decline. 

185. Twenty-five minutes before markets closed on February 25, 2021, Tricida 

announced in a press release that the Company had “received an Appeal Denied Letter (ADL), 

from the Office of New Drugs (OND) of the FDA in response to its Formal Dispute Resolution 

Request (FDRR) submitted in December 2020.” According to Tricida, the FDA’s ADL said the 

“extent of serum bicarbonate increase observed in the TRCA-301/TRCA-301E trial is not 

reasonably likely to provide a discernible reduction in CKD progression,” and “the confirmatory 

trial, VALOR-CKD, is underpowered ….” The press release also publicly revealed for the first 

time the FDA’s “concerns that are particularly relevant in an NDA supported by a single 

registration trial”: the trial results were “strongly influenced by a single site,” and “the majority of 

sites for the TRCA-301/TRCA-301E trial” were in Eastern Europe, “where differences in patient 

management … might affect the treatment response to veverimer,” rendering questionable “the 

applicability to a U.S. patient population.” This press release finally revealed the numerous 
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deficiencies plaguing the veverimer NDA, all of which the Company had known about long before 

it even submitted the NDA. 

186. On this news, Tricida’s stock price fell from $7.36 per share at close on February 

25, 2021 to $5.11 per share at close on February 26, 2021. 

ADDITIONAL ALLEGATIONS OF SCIENTER 

187. Throughout the class period, Defendant Klaerner sold nearly $10 million in shares 

of Tricida stock. When he made these sales of Tricida stock, he was privy to the complete—and 

nonpublic—collection of risks related to the veverimer NDA’s likelihood for FDA approval. He 

knew that his and Tricida’s failure to disclose the full risk profile for veverimer’s FDA review had 

inflated the value of Tricida stock. He has only made a single purchase of Tricida stock (ever), 

which occurred on July 2, 2018. He purchased 15,790 shares at a price of $19.00 apiece. He made 

34 sales of Tricida stock between December 26, 2018 and February 8, 2021, totaling $9,758,875. 

His sales were particularly aggressive from March 28, 2019—days before the secondary public 

offering—and December 18, 2019—while the hype of the recently-filed veverimer NDA remained 

fresh—during which period Tricida’s stock consistently traded at prices between $30 and $43.50 

per share. His trades during the class period were as follows: 

 
Date Transaction Share Price Shares Traded Sum 

02/08/21 Sell $7.26 8,000 $58,080 
01/13/21 Sell $7.39 16,690 $123,292 
01/12/21 Sell $7.65 9,821 $75,131 
01/11/21 Sell $7.49 21,489 $160,953 
07/15/20 Sell $26.33 4,000 $105,320 
07/01/20 Sell $27.15 4,000 $108,600 
06/15/20 Sell $25.97 4,000 $103,869 
06/01/20 Sell $26.23 4,000 $104,920 
05/15/20 Sell $31.55 4,000 $126,220 
05/01/20 Sell $27.98 4,000 $111,906 
04/15/20 Sell $27.47 4,000 $109,891 
04/06/20 Sell $24.22 4,000 $96,880 
03/16/20 Sell $23.91 4,000 $95,640 
03/02/20 Sell $31.53 4,000 $126,120 
02/18/20 Sell $36.10 4,000 $144,400 
02/03/20 Sell $36.33 4,000 $145,330 
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01/15/20 Sell $35.26 4,000 $141,040 
01/02/20 Sell $37.15 4,000 $148,607 
12/18/19 Sell $38.91 31,750 $1,235,457 
12/11/19 Sell $43.50 7,572 $329,346 
12/10/19 Sell $43.28 3,948 $170,869 
12/01/19 Sell $39.65 8,000 $317,160 
11/01/19 Sell $38.54 49,000 $1,888,556 
10/28/19 Sell $37.26 4,000 $149,035 
10/01/19 Sell $31.07 11,223 $348,663 
09/30/19 Sell $30.69 10,255 $314,734 
08/28/19 Sell $33.71 4,000 $134,840 
07/29/19 Sell $31.17 4,000 $124,680 
07/06/19 Sell $35.55 5,826 $207,097 
07/03/19 Sell $37.08 6,874 $254,854 
03/28/19 Sell $32.96 57,822 $1,905,974 
03/04/19 Sell $23.76 853 $20,267 
03/01/19 Sell $23.94 7,147 $171,064 
12/26/18 Sell $25.02 4,000 $100,080 
07/02/18 Buy $19.00 15,790 $300,010 

 

Most of these trades occurred as part of a 10b5-1 plan, but this 10b5-1 plan was itself first 

implemented amidst Klaerner and Tricida’s ongoing securities fraud (which began as of the IPO). 

Indeed, Tricida made materially false statements about the TRCA-301 trial before shares of the 

Company were even available to the investing public. Klaerner traded on the nonpublic knowledge 

of the inflated value of Tricida’s stock throughout the class period. 

188. Tricida itself engaged in insider trades through the initial public offering on June 

28, 2018, and again in the secondary offering on April 3-8, 2019. Tricida needed funds to operate 

and continue its postmarketing trials of veverimer so it sold common stock to the investing public 

in its IPO. Thereafter, it was in need of additional monies to fund its operations past early 2021, 

when the Company would be in the initial stages of commercializing veverimer if the NDA were 

approved by the PDUFA date in August 2020. Tricida had $243.4 million in cash, cash equivalents, 

and investments at the end of 2018. At the time of the secondary offering, however, Tricida already 

knew of the significant risks in obtaining FDA approval for veverimer and failed to reveal these 

material facts to investors. Indeed, Tricida knew that most of the TRCA-301/301E trials had been 

conducted in Eastern Europe and that one trial site in particular had a disproportionate effect on 
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the results, both of which severely undercut the credibility of the study results 

Tricida sold 

6.44 million sha1·es of common stock, at $36 per share, for over $231 million by the time the 

secondaiy stock offering completed on April 8, 2019. 

189. Tricida had only one dmg candidate: vevemner. Accordingly, the day-to-day 

operations at the Company leading up and throughout the Class Period focused solely on 

shepherding veverimer through clinical trials and FDA approval to commercialization; the 

Company's entire future hung on the success of b1inging veverimer to market. And Tricida was 

Klaemer's project through and through. He "started it in 2013 in his living room" shortly after 

"finishing up the Relypsa experience" and he "was looking for an opportunity to c.reate something 

that is truly disease-modifying." Klaemer, who has a Ph.D. in polymer and organic chemistry and 

was an in-house scientist before founding several companies, is "ve1y passionate about polymer 

chemistry," and demonstrates himself to be intimately familiar with the design and fimctionality 

of veverimer. Thus, Klaeruer, as CEO was involved in and aware of even more than just the core 

operations at Tricida. 

190. He was focused on the details and, given the small size and narrow focus of the 

17 Company, participated in meetings with lower-level employees working toward accomplishing a 

18 single component of the data needed to support an NDA. Klaeruer attended meetings with and 

19 inspections by the FDA, including the May 6. 2015 meeting, the November 30, 2016 meeting, the 

10 Febrnary 9, 2017 meeting, the July 26, 2017 meeting, the March 6, 2018 meeting, the June 3, 2019 

21 meeting, the Janmuy 27, 2020 meeting, and the May 1, 2020 meeting. Additionally, the 

22 Establishment Inspection Report for the inspection of Tricida's South San Francisco facility from 

23 December 9-17, 2019, reports that the FDA inspector met with Klaemer before the facility 

24 inspection and afte1waJds to debrief the results. Additionally, Confidential Witness 2 ("CW2"}-

25 who se1ved in the role of Executive Director of Operations from September 2019 through October 

26 2020 and was responsible for overseeing the commercialization ofveverimer after (hopeful) FDA 

27 approval-stated that at numerous meetings, Klaemer told the assembled company executives that 

18 he was waiting to hear from the FDA about setting up a meeting with the Agency. 
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LOSS CAUSATION / ECONOMIC LOSS 

191. During the Class Period, as detailed herein, Defendants engaged in a scheme to 

deceive investors and the market and a course of conduct that artificially inflated the price of 

Tricida stock and operated as a fraud or deceit on Class Period purchasers of Tricida stock by 

misrepresenting and omitting material information about the design and execution of the TRCA-

301/TRCA-301E trials. When Defendants’ prior misrepresentations and omissions were disclosed 

to the market, beginning on July 15, 2020, Tricida’s stock price fell as the prior artificial inflation 

came out of the price. The full inflation did not come out of the stock price until February 25, 

2021. As a result of their purchases of Tricida stock during the Class Period, Lead Plaintiff and 

other members of the Class suffered economic loss, i.e., damages, under the federal securities laws. 

192. Defendants’ misleading statements and omissions of material facts, identified 

herein at ¶¶94-173, had the intended effect and caused Tricida stock to trade at artificially inflated 

prices during the Class Period. 

193. As a direct result of the disclosures that began after the markets closed on July 15, 

2020, as detailed in ¶¶174-76, Tricida’s stock price suffered a significant decline. On July 16, 

2020, the price of Tricida stock, which traded on NASDAQ, fell from the prior days close of 

$26.20 to a low of $15.64, a drop of 40.31% after the market learned that Tricida’s veverimer 

NDA suffered from review issues that were significant enough to preclude discussions of labeling 

and postmarketing requirements/commitments. 

194. In addition, the disclosure made before the markets opened on August 24, 2020, as 

detailed in ¶¶177-79, directly caused Tricida’s stock price to fall. On August 24, 2020, Tricida’s 

stock price fell from a close of $13.24 per share on August 21, 2020, to close at $10.11 per share—

a drop of 23.64%—after learning that Tricida had received a CRL from the FDA in response to 

the veverimer NDA. 

195. The disclosure before the markets opened on October 29, 2020, as detailed in 

¶¶180-82, also had a direct impact on Tricida’s stock price. The price of Tricida’s stock plummeted 

from $8.27 at close on October 28, 2020, to $4.37 at close on October 29, 2020—a drop of 

47.16%—in direct response to additional disclosures regarding review issues with the veverimer 
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NDA and its likelihood for near-term approval. Specifically, Tricida revealed that the FDA told 

Tricida that it was “unlikely to rely solely on serum bicarbonate data for determination of efficacy” 

and would therefore “require evidence of veverimer’s effect on CKD progression from a near-term 

interim analysis of the VALOR-CKD trial for approval under the Accelerated Approval Program.” 

196. Tricida’s stock price again suffered as a direct result of the disclosures made sixteen 

minutes before the markets closed on December 8, 2020, as detailed in ¶¶183-84, which revealed 

(1) that Tricida had failed to come to an agreement with the FDA on the resubmission of the 

veverimer NDA during the Type A meeting, (2) that the Company had filed a FDRR in an attempt 

to convince the FDA that the TRCA-301 trial results are reasonably likely to predict clinical 

benefit, and (3) that the Company had scrapped the protocol for the VALOR-CKD trial. In direct 

response, Tricida’s stock price fell 17.73% from $8.12 per share at close on December 8, 2020 to 

close at $6.68 per share on December 9, 2020. 

197. The final disclosures on February 25, 2021, as detailed in ¶¶185-86, directly caused 

Tricida’s stock price to fall from $7.36 per share at close on February 25, 2021 to close at $5.11 

on February 26, 2021—a drop of 30.57%. Twenty-five minutes before the markets closed on 

February 25, 2021, Tricida disclosed that it had received an ADL from the FDA, which determined 

(1) the “extent of serum bicarbonate increase observed in the TRCA-301/TRCA-301E trial is not 

reasonably likely to provide a discernible reduction in CKD progression,” (2) “the confirmatory 

trial, VALOR-CKD, is underpowered,” (3) the trial results were “strongly influenced by a single 

site,” and (4) “the majority of sites for the TRCA-301/TRCA-301E trial” were in Eastern Europe, 

“where differences in patient management … might affect the treatment response to veverimer,” 

rendering questionable “the applicability to a U.S. patient population.” 

198. The declines in Tricida’s stock price on July 16, 2020, August 24, 2020, October 

29, 2020, December 8, 2020, and February 25, 2021, were a direct result of the nature and extent 

of Defendants’ prior misstatements and omissions being revealed to investors and the market. 

199. The timing and magnitude of Tricida’s stock price decline negates any inference 

that the losses suffered by Lead Plaintiffs and other Class members was caused by changed market 

conditions, macroeconomic or industry factors or Company-specific factors unrelated to 
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Defendants’ fraudulent conduct. On July 16, 2020, the Nasdaq was down only -0.7%, with the 

Nasdaq U.S. Smart Pharmaceuticals Index down even less, at -0.4%. On August 24, 2020, the 

Nasdaq increased 0.01%, and the Nasdaq Smart Pharma was down only -0.3%. On October 29, 

2020, the Nasdaq increased 1.6% and the Nasdaq Smart Pharma increased 0.4%. On December 8, 

2020, the Nasdaq decreased 0.02% and the Nasdaq Smart Pharma increased 1.46%. On February 

25, 2021, the Nasdaq decreased 0.04%, while the Nasdaq Smart Pharma decreased -1.5%. 

200. The losses suffered by Lead Plaintiff and other members of the Class were a direct 

result of Defendants’ fraudulent scheme to inflate Tricida’s stock price and the subsequent, 

significant declines in the value of that stock when Defendants’ prior misrepresentations and 

omissions were revealed. 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

201. Lead Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure 23(a) and 23(b)(3), on behalf of a class consisting of all purchasers of the common stock 

of Tricida during the Class Period (the “Class”). Excluded from the Class are Defendants, the 

officers and directors of the Company, at all relevant times, members of their immediate families 

and their legal representatives, heirs, successors, or assigns, and any entity in which Defendants 

have or had a controlling interest. 

202. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of them is impracticable. 

Throughout the Class Period, Tricida traded on the NASDAQ exchange. While the exact number 

of class members is not presently known to Lead Plaintiff, and can only be ascertained through 

discovery, Lead Plaintiff believes there are thousands of members in the proposed Class. Record 

owners and other members of the Class can be ascertained through records maintained by Tricida 

and/or its transfer agent. Those record holders could be notified of the pendency of this action by 

mail. 

203. Lead Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class, as all 

are similarly affected by Defendants’ wrongful conduct in violation of federal law. 

204. Lead Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the 

class and has retained competent and experienced securities litigation counsel. 
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205. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and will 

predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Class. Among the 

common questions of law and fact common to the Class: 

a. Whether the Exchange Act was violated by Defendants as alleged herein; 

b. Whether statements made by Defendants misrepresented and omitted material facts 

about Tricida’s business, operations, and management; and 

c. To what extent the members of the Class have suffered damages, and the proper 

measure of those damages. 

206. A class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of this controversy, given that joinder of all members is impracticable. As the 

damages suffered by each individual Class member may be relatively small, the burden and 

expense of litigating individual cases would make it all but impossible for many members of the 

Class to redress wrongs done to them. There will not be any difficulty in managing this action as 

a class action. 

FRAUD ON THE MARKET 

207. Lead Plaintiff will rely upon the presumption of reliance established by the fraud-

on-the-market doctrine. Among other things: 

a. Defendants made public misrepresentations or failed to disclose material facts 

during the Class Period; 

b. These omissions and material misrepresentations were material; 

c. Tricida common stock traded in an efficient market throughout the Class Period; 

d. The misrepresentations alleged would tend to induce a reasonable investor to 

misjudge the value of Tricida common stock; and 

e. Lead Plaintiff and other members of the Class purchased Tricida common stock 

between the time Defendants misrepresented or failed to disclose material facts and 

the time the true facts were disclosed, without knowledge of the misrepresented or 

omitted facts. 

208. At all relevant times, the market for Tricida common stock was efficient, as: 
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a. Tricida filed periodic public reports with the SEC as a regulated issuer; and 

b. Tricida regularly communicated with public investors via established 

communications mechanisms, including through the regular dissemination of press 

releases on major news wire services, communications through the financial press, 

securities analysts, the internet, and other similar reporting services. 

COUNT I 

For Violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 Against All Defendants 

209. Lead Plaintiff incorporates ¶¶1-208 by reference. 

210. During the Class Period, Defendants disseminated or approved the false statements 

specified above, which they knew or deliberately disregarded were misleading in that they 

contained misrepresentations and concealed material facts necessary in order to make the 

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. 

211. Defendants violated §10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 in that they: 

212. Employed devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud; 

213. Made untrue statements of material facts or omitted to state material facts necessary 

in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, 

not misleading; or 

214. Engaged in acts, practices, and a course of business that operated as a fraud or deceit 

upon Plaintiffs and others similarly situated in connection with their purchases of Tricida securities 

during the Class Period. 

215. In addition to the duties of full disclosure imposed on Defendants as a result of their 

affirmative false and misleading statements to the public, the Exchange Act Defendants had a duty 

to promptly disseminate truthful information with respect to Tricida’s operations and performance 

that would be material to investors in compliance with the integrated disclosure provisions of the 

SEC, including with respect to the Company’s revenue and earnings trends, so that the market 

prices of the Company’s securities would be based on truthful, complete, and accurate information. 

SEC Regulations S-X (17 C.F.R. §210.01, et seq.) and S-K (17 C.F.R. §229.10, et seq.). 
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216. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ wrongful conduct, Lead Plaintiff 

and the Class have suffered damages in connection with their respective purchases of Tricida 

common stock during the Class Period, because, in reliance on the integrity of the market, they 

paid artificially inflated prices for Tricida securities and experienced losses when the artificial 

inflation was released from Tricida securities as a result of the revelations and prices decline 

detailed herein. Plaintiffs and the Class would not have purchased Tricida securities at the prices 

they paid, or at all, if they had been aware that the market prices had been artificially and falsely 

inflated by Defendants’ misleading statements. 

217. By virtue of the foregoing, Tricida and Klaerner have each violated §10(b) of the 

Exchange Act, and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. 

COUNT II 

For Violations of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act Against Defendant Klaerner 

218. Lead Plaintiff incorporates ¶¶1-208 by reference. 

219. During his tenure as officer and director of Tricida, Klaerner and Tricida were 

controlling persons of the Company within the meaning of §20(a) of the Exchange Act. By reason 

of their positions of control and authority as officer and director of Tricida, Klaerner and Tricida 

had the power and authority to cause Tricida to engage in the conduct complained of herein. These 

defendants were able to, and did, control, directly and indirectly, the decision-making of Tricida, 

including the content and dissemination of Tricida’s public statements and filings described herein, 

thereby causing the dissemination of the materially false and misleading statements and omissions 

as alleged herein. Tricida exercised control over and directed the actions of its senior managers, 

directors and agents, including Defendant Klaerner. Tricida controlled Defendant Klaerner and all 

of its employees and subsidiaries. 

220. In his capacity as chief executive officer and director of Tricida, and as more fully 

described herein, Defendant Klaerner participated in the misstatements and omissions set forth 

above. Indeed, Klaerner had direct and supervisory involvement in the day-to-day operations of 

the Company and had access to non-public information regarding Tricida’s deceptive and risky 

business practices. Defendants had the ability to influence and direct and did so influence and 
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direct the activities of Defendants in their violations of §10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-

5 as detailed in ¶¶211-19. 

221. As a result, Defendants were control persons within the meaning of §20(a) of the 

Exchange Act. 

222. As set forth above, Tricida violated §10(b) of the Exchange Act. By virtue of its 

position, and as a result of its aforementioned conduct and culpable participation, Tricida is liable 

pursuant to §20(a) of the Exchange Act, jointly and severally with, and to the same extent as 

Defendant Klaerner is liable to Plaintiffs and the other members of the Class. Tricida exercised 

control over Klaerner and all of its employees and subsidiaries and, as a result of its 

aforementioned conduct and culpable participation, is liable pursuant to §20(a) of the Exchange 

Act, jointly and severally with, and to the same extent as the Klaerner is liable to Plaintiffs and the 

other members of the Class. 

223. This claim is brought within the applicable statute of limitations. 

224. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants violated §20(a) of the Exchange Act, 15 

U.S.C. §78(a). 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

225. WHEREFORE, Lead Plaintiff prays for relief and judgment as follows:  

a. Declaring the action to be a proper class action pursuant to Rule 23(a) and (b)(3) of 

the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of the Class defined herein;  

b. Awarding all damages and other remedies available under the Securities Exchange 

Act in favor of Lead Plaintiff and all members of the Class against Defendants in 

an amount to be proven at trial, including interest thereon; 

c. Awarding Lead Plaintiff and the Class their reasonable costs and expenses incurred 

in this action, including attorneys’ fees and expert fees; and  

d. Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.  

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

226. Lead Plaintiff demands a trial by jury. 
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December 15, 2022 Respectfully submitted, 

 
/s/ Jacob A. Walker   
Jacob A. Walker (SBN 271217) 
Jeffrey C. Block (pro hac vice) 
Michael D. Gaines (pro hac vice) 
BLOCK & LEVITON LLP 
260 Franklin Street, Suite 1860 
Boston, MA 02110 
(617) 398-5600 phone 
jeff@blockleviton.com 
jake@blockleviton.com 
michael@blockleviton.com 
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IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE 

 
In re:  
 
Tricida, Inc., 1  

Debtor.  

) 
) 
) 
) 
 

Chapter 11 
Case No. 23-10024 (JTD) 
 
Related Docket No. ___ 

ORDER SUBORDINATING CLAIM NO. 144 FILED BY JEFFREY 
FIORE, AS SECURITIES LEAD PLAINTIFF FOR A PROPOSED 
CLASS OF PLAINTIFFS, AND CLAIM NO. 146 FILED JEFFREY 

FIORE INDIVIDUALLY PURSUANT TO 11 U.S.C. § 510(B) 

 Upon consideration of the Motion of the Liquidating Trustee to Subordinate Claim No. 144 

filed by Jeffrey Fiore, as Securities Lead Plaintiff for a Proposed Class of Plaintiffs, and Claim 

No. 146 filed by Jeffrey Fiore Individually Pursuant to 11 U.S.C § 510(b) (the “Motion”); and with 

due and sufficient notice of the Motion having been given under the particular circumstances; and 

it appearing that no other or further notice need be provided; and this Court having jurisdiction 

over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 157 and 1334 and the Amended Standing Order of 

Reference from the United States District Court for the District of Delaware, dated February 29, 

2012; and finding that the Court has authority to enter a final order in this matter consistent with 

Article III of the United States Constitution, and this matter being a core proceeding pursuant to 

28 U.S.C. §§ 1408 and 1409, and it appearing that the relief requested by the Motion is in the best 

interests of the Liquidating Trust, 2 all creditors, and other parties in interest and after due 

deliberation thereon; and good and adequate cause appearing therefor, 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT: 

1. The Motion is granted as set forth herein. 

 
1 The Debtor in this chapter 11 case, together with the last four digits of the Debtor’s federal tax 
identification number, is Tricida, Inc. (2526). 
2 Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms in 
the Motion.  
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2. Claim No. 144 filed by Jeffrey Fiore, as Securities Lead Plaintiff for a Proposed 

Class of Plaintiffs, and Claim No. 146 filed by Jeffrey Fiore individually shall be, and hereby are, 

subordinated to the same priority as Tricida’s common stock pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 510(b). 

3. This Court shall retain jurisdiction to resolve any dispute relating to the 

interpretation or enforcement of this Order.   
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